
    

 

 

 
 

ROTARY INTERNATIONAL DISTRICT 9620 LIMITED 
ABN:  80 125 588 696 

 
 

District Governor 2022-23:  Tim Keeler AM 
Company Secretary 2022-23:  Ian Hope 

 
 
 
 
 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN for the FIFTEENTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of 
Rotary International District 9620 Limited to be held at 9 am on Sunday 13 
November 2022 at Phil Boron Centre (Bostock House), Ellerton Drive, Wacol, Qld, 
4076. 

AGENDA: 

1. The consideration of the annual financial report, directors’ report and auditor’s 

report (as Attachment A with this notice). 

Queries regarding the 2021/22 financial statements should be lodged in writing 
with the District Finance Director Michael Carrigan (finance@rotary9620.org) not 
later than Wednesday 9 November 2022. 

2. The confirmation of the Board of Directors selected in accordance with the 

Constitution for the next Rotary Year 2023-24.  

The following Rotarians are automatically members of the Board by virtue of their 
position. 

 District Governor, Paul Roger (RC Greater Springfield);  

 Immediate Past District Governor, Tim Keeler (RC Logan); 

 District Governor Elect, Sue Mulraney (RC Loganholme); and  

 District Governor Nominee, – to be determined. 

In addition, the following Rotarians have been selected in accordance with the 
Constitution and require confirmation: 

 Company Secretary, Ian Hope (RC Glasshouse Country): 

 District Administrator, Jenny Smith (RC Sumner Park) 

 District Finance Director, Michelle Wright (ReC Australia Nomads) 

 District Emerging Services Director, Phoebe Thomas (RC South Brisbane). 

Postal address: 
1 Coljohn Street 
Landsborough QLD 4550 

mailto:finance@rotary9620.org


…/2 

3. To consider the following motion regarding the Constitution for Rotary 
International District 9620 Ltd 

Motion: 
That the Constitution of ROTARY INTERNATIONAL DISTRICT 9620 LIMITED 
ABN 80 125 588 696 is amended by substituting the Constitution (as Attachment 
B) for the existing Constitution (as Attachment C).   

Attachment D provides the changes to the Constitution. 

4. The status of the Company’s incorporation. 

5. Immediate Past District Governors’ Statement of Financial Activity 

 Rotary International requires the Immediate Past District Governor to 
present for the information of the District a statement of how Rotary 
International’s District Governor’s allocation was expensed.   

 To be presented by IPDG Wendy Protheroe. 

6. Update on District 9620 by DG Tim Keeler. 

 

In order for each Rotary or Rotaract Club to be able to vote at the AGM and 
to ensure the meeting has a quorum, please submit the attached form; Advice 
of Electors or Proxy; to the Company Secretary company-
secretary@rotary9620.org as soon as possible but no later than 5pm 
Thursday 10 November 2022. 

Please indicate on this form, where provided, whether your Club’s Elector or 
Proxy will be attending in person or online. 

 

Relevant provisions of the Company’s Constitution are reproduced below for 
information of members.   

NOTE:   For the meeting to be valid there will need to be a quorum comprising at 
least one-half of the total number of District Clubs [which are financial] 
present and represented by their Electors or proxies.   

Ian Hope 
Company Secretary 
Rotary International District 9620 Limited 
(0457 388 757) 
company-secretary@rotary9620.org 
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ROTARY INTERNATIONAL DISTRICT 9620 LIMITED 
ABN:  80 125 588 696 

ADVICE OF ELECTOR(S) OR PROXY 

TO BE RETURNED TO COMPANY SECRETARY (company-secretary@rotary9620.org)  
BY 5PM THURSDAY 10 NOVEMBER 2022 

AUTHORITY FOR THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AT WACOL ON 13 NOVEMBER 2022 
 

ROTARY CLUB OF    

CLUB ADDRESS         

A District Club is not entitled to vote at a General Meeting unless all sums presently payable by the 
District Club in respect of membership of the Company and Rotary International have been paid in 
full. 

A District Club may only vote at a General Meeting of the Company by its Elector or if no Elector is able to 
attend, a duly appointed proxy. 

On each matter submitted to a vote at any General Meeting, each District Club is entitled to 1 vote plus one 

1 additional vote for each additional 25 (or major fraction) thereof of its District Rotarians. (For example, a 

club with a membership of up to 37 members is entitled to one elector, a club with 38 to 62 members is 
entitled to two electors, a club with 63 to 87 members is entitled to three electors and so on.) 

The membership of a District Club is to be determined by the number of Rotarians who are members in the 
District Club as at the date of the most recent semi-annual payment to Rotary International preceding the 
date on which the vote is to be held. 

A District Club entitled to cast more than 1 vote may either appoint Electors or Proxies equal in number to the 
number of its votes or authorise 1 Elector or Proxy to exercise all its votes. 

NUMBER OF MEMBERS IN THE CLUB (as at 1 July 2022):    

OUR CLUB IS ENTITLED TO:     ______ VOTES. 

OUR CLUB’S ELECTOR(S) IS / ARE:   

    

ALTERNATIVELY, OUR PROXY IS:  
(if none specified, it will be taken as the Chairman of the meeting) 

HOW WILL YOUR ELECTOR/S OR PROXY BE ATTENDING? (circle one of 

these options) 

In Person or Online 
 
__________________          ______________________    ________ 
CLUB PRESIDENT                                       CLUB SECRETARY                                      DATE  

 

MUST BE SIGNED BY BOTH 

  

mailto:company-secretary@rotary9620.org


Relevant Sections from Constitution of Rotary International District 9620 Limited 

General Meetings 

17. Convening meetings 

17.1 The Company must, in each Rotary Year, hold: 

(1) an Annual General Meeting; and 

(2) General Meetings convened in accordance with these Rules or the Act including any such meeting that may be held in 

conjunction with the District Training Assembly and the District Conference. 

17.2 The District Governor may determine the date, time and place of those meetings in their District Governor’s Year but 
the Annual General Meeting must be held at least once in each calendar year and within 5 months of the end of each Rotary 

Year unless the Australian Securities and Investment Commission approves otherwise. 

17.3 The notice convening the Annual General Meeting must be given at least 21 days in advance of the Annual General 

Meeting and specify that the meeting is an Annual General Meeting. The ordinary business to be conducted at the Annual 

General Meeting is: 

(1) the consideration of the annual financial report, Directors’ report and auditor’s report; 

(2) the confirmation in office of the Board of Directors selected in accordance with these Rules (as the case requires) for 

the current and/or next Rotary Year; 

(3) the status of the Company’s incorporation. 

17.4 The District Governor or any three Directors may convene a General Meeting whenever the District Governor or those 

Directors think fit by giving at least 21 days’ notice, provided that those same Directors may not convene more than one 

extraordinary general meeting in any six (6) month period. 
17.5 The Directors who convene a general meeting under Rule 17.4 may, with the agreement of the District Governor, cancel 

that meeting by notice in writing to all District Clubs, but no meeting convened on the requisition of District Clubs may be 

cancelled without the consent of each convening District Club. 

17.6 The District Governor may postpone a General Meeting or change the place at which it is to be held by notice not later 

than 72 hours prior to the time of the meeting to all persons to whom the notice of meeting (the first notice) was given. The 

postponing notice must specify the place, date and time of the further meeting. The meeting is taken to be duly convened 

under the first notice. 

17.7 The District Governor must, on request in writing of the District Clubs representing not less than 10% of the total number 

of District Clubs convene a General Meeting of the Company; 

17.8 A request by District Clubs for a General Meeting pursuant to Rule 17.7 must: 

(1) be in writing and state the objects of the meeting; 
(2) be signed by the Presidents of the District Clubs requesting the meeting; and 

(3) be sent to the registered office of the Company and the District Governor. 

17.9 If the District Governor does not cause a General Meeting to be held within 1 month after the date on which the request 

is sent to the registered office of the Company, the District Clubs which make a request under Rule 17.7 may request the 

Company Secretary to convene a General Meeting to be held not later than 3 months after that date and the Company Secretary 

must then convene a General Meeting. 

17.10 If a General Meeting is convened by District Clubs in accordance with Rule 17.7, it must be convened in the same 

manner so far as possible as a meeting convened under Rule 17.4. 

18. Notice of General Meetings 

18.1 Each notice convening a General Meeting must contain the information required by the Act. 

18.2 The non-receipt of a notice convening a General Meeting by, or the accidental omission to give notice to, any person 

entitled to receive notice does not invalidate the proceedings at or any resolution passed at the meeting. 

19. Telephonic and electronic/direct voting 

19.1 A District Club may request to have its Elector(s) present at a General Meeting by teleconference or electronic means. 

If a majority of Directors consent to Elector(s) being present at that meeting by teleconference or other electronic means, the 

Directors must (subject to appropriate facilities being available) use their best endeavours to facilitate the attendance of those 

Electors at the meeting. An Elector present via teleconference or electronic means will be responsible for making the 

connection to the meeting and an Elector present must be permitted to vote by indicating whether they vote for or against a 

resolution. 

19.2 An Elector present via electronic means at the meeting is deemed to be present at the meeting. 

19.3 In addition to voting by Elector(s) indicating whether they vote for or against a resolution in a permitted meeting, the 

Directors may determine that at any General Meeting, Elector(s) who are entitled to attend that meeting are entitled to a direct 

vote without physically attending the General Meeting. A “direct vote” includes a vote delivered to the Company Secretary 
of the Company by post,, email or other electronic means approved by the Directors from time to time. The Directors may 



from time to time, specify the form, method and timing of giving a direct vote at a General Meeting in order for the vote to 

be valid. 

20. Business of General Meetings 

20.1 Unless the Electors present agree by majority otherwise, business must not be transacted at any General Meeting except 

as set out in the notice of meeting. 

21. Quorum 

21.1 Business must not be transacted at a General Meeting unless there is a quorum of Electors present at the time when the 

meeting proceeds to business. 
21.2 Except as otherwise provided in this Constitution, at least one half of the total number of District Financial Clubs of the 

Company present by their Electors or proxy constitutes a quorum. 

21.3 At any General Meeting dealing with the matters referred to in Rule 25.3, the quorum will be at least one half of the total 

number of District Financial Clubs of the Company present by their Electors or proxy 

22. If quorum not present 

22.1 If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting: 

(1) where the meeting is convened on the requisition of District Clubs, the proposed meeting is automatically dissolved 

(subject to Rule 24.1); 

(2) in any other case: 

(a) the meeting stands adjourned to a day and at a time and place as the Directors decide or, if no decision is made by 

the Directors, to the same day in the next week at the same time and place (“the adjourned meeting”); and 

(b) if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within 20 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting, the 

meeting is automatically dissolved. 

23. Chair of meetings 

23.1 At every General Meeting: 

(1) the District Governor, or in the District Governor’s absence; 

(2) the District Governor-elect, or in the District Governor-elect’s absence; 

(3) a Director as chosen by Directors present at the meeting, or in the absence of all Directors; 

(4) an Elector of a District Club as elected by District Clubs’ Electors present at the meeting; is to preside as Chair. 

24. Adjournments 

24.1 The Chair may and must if so directed by the meeting, adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place. 

24.2 The only business, which may be transacted at any adjourned meeting, is the business left unfinished at the meeting from 

which the adjournment took place. 
24.3 When a meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given as in the case of an 

original meeting. 

24.4 Except as provided by Rule 24.3, it is not necessary to give any notice of an adjournment or of the business to be 

transacted at an adjourned meeting. 

25. Voting at General Meetings 

25.1 The provisions of the Rotary International By-Laws from time to time which determine (in respect of each District Club) 

such things as: 

(1) the selection, certification and sending of Electors; 

(2) the number of Electors and votes to which each such District Club is entitled; and 

(3) how those Electors must cast such votes, 

at any District Conference or District Resolutions Meeting (if one is held separately) (“the meeting rules”) shall, with all 
necessary amendments, apply to any General Meeting of the Company and this Constitution shall be read subject to and 

applied consistently with the meeting rules. 

25.2 Subject to Rules 19, any resolution to be considered at a General Meeting is to be decided on a 

show of hands of the Electors in attendance. For the avoidance of doubt, a proxy appointed under 

Rule 30 or an attorney appointed under Rule 32 may vote on a show of hands if authorised to be 

present and to vote under this Constitution. 

25.3 Unless as an Elector, a District Rotarian/Rotaractor may not vote but can be heard at a General 

Meeting on matters submitted to a vote in respect of: 

(1) the selection of a District Governor Nominee Designate; 

(2) election of a member and alternate member of the nominating committee for director; 

(3) composition and terms of reference of the nominating committee for District Governor; 

(4) election of the representative and alternate representative of District 9620 to the Council on Legislation; and 
(5) the amount of the per capita levy. 



25.4 A declaration by the Chair that a resolution has on a show of hands been carried or lost and an entry to that effect in the 

minutes of the meeting are conclusive evidence of the fact without the need to show the number or proportion of the votes 

recorded in favour of or against the resolution. 

25.5 District Clubs have the right to demand a poll upon any resolution presented to a General Meeting in accordance with 

the Act. 

25.6 District Clubs have the right to demand and the Chair has the right to require that any resolution presented to a General 

Meeting is to be decided by secret ballot. 

26. Procedure for polls and secret ballot 
26.1 A poll or secret ballot must be taken in the manner and at the time as determined by the Chair. 

26.2 The result of the poll or secret ballot is a resolution of the meeting at which the poll or secret ballot took place. 

26.3 If a poll or secret ballot has been demanded or is required at a meeting, the meeting may continue with the transaction 

of business other than the resolution on which the poll or secret ballot was demanded or required. 

27. Chair’s casting vote 

27.1 In the case of an equality of votes on a show of hands or on a poll the Chair will have a casting vote. 

28. Representation and voting of District Clubs 

28.1 A District Club may only vote at a General Meeting of the Company by its Elector or if no Elector is able to attend, a 

duly appointed proxy or attorney 

28.2 On each matter submitted to a vote to which this Rule 28 applies at any General Meeting, each District Club must vote 

in accordance with the meeting rules referred to in Rule 25.1. 

28.3 The Elector(s) of a District Club at a General Meeting of the Company is or are: 
(1) its President if present at any General Meeting of the Company (except District Training Assembly); 

(2) its President Elect (or his or her duly authorised designated representative pursuant to the Constitutional Documents 

in the absence of the President Elect) at the District Training Assembly; or 

(3) 1 or more District Rotarians who are members of and duly selected and certified by that District Club as its Elector(s) 

pursuant to the Constitutional Documents for the relevant meeting. 

28.4 A District Club must give formal written notice of appointment of: 

(1) the designated representative appointed under Rule 28.3 (2); and 

(2) its Elector(s) appointed under Rule 28.3 (3), 

in accordance with the meeting rules and comply with the provisions of Rule 28 as to notice to the Company but is not 

otherwise required to give such notice. 

28.5 If a District Club is entitled to vote at a General Meeting, its Elector must cast such vote in the manner required by the 
Constitutional Documents. 

28.6 An Elector, proxy or attorney appointed to attend and vote for a District Club at a General Meeting has the same rights 

as a District Club: 

(1) to be heard at the meeting; 

(2) to vote (but subject to any limitations imposed in the appointment, the meeting rules and these Rules); and 

(3) to demand a poll. 

28.7 Notice of the appointment of an Elector, may be given by formal notice of such appointment duly signed on behalf of 

the District Club by its President and its Secretary or by the Elector signing the attendance book maintained to record 

attendance at such meeting. 

28.8 The formal notice or, as the case requires, the attendance book must contain the following information: 

(1) the District Club’s name; 
(2) the Elector’s name and the name of the office held by the Elector; and 

(3) the meetings at which the appointment may be used. 

28.9 The following rules apply to such appointments: 

(1) an appointment may be a standing one and may authorise an Elector to vote at his or her discretion; 

(2) an undated appointment is taken to have been dated on the day it is given to the Company; 

(3) an appointment may specify the way the Elector is to vote on a particular resolution. If it does, the Elector must vote 

accordingly; 

(4) an appointment does not have to be witnessed; and 

(5) a later appointment revokes an earlier one if both appointments could not be validly exercised at the meeting. 

28.10 A District Club is not entitled to vote at a General Meeting unless all sums presently payable by the District Club in 

respect of membership of the Company and Rotary International have been paid in full. This rule does not apply for debts of 

$300.00 or less and for such minor debts only, the Club will be eligible to vote. 

29. Objections to qualification to vote 



29.1 An objection to the qualification of a District Club to vote may be raised only at the meeting or adjourned meeting at 

which the vote objected to is tendered. 

29.2 Any objection must be referred to the Chair, whose decision is final. 

29.3 A vote allowed after an objection is valid for all purposes. 

30. Proxies 

30.1 A District Club may designate a proxy for its absent Elector(s) at any General Meeting of the Company. 

30.2 The proxy must be a District Rotarian/Rotaractor and may be a member of the designating District Club. 

30.3 The proxy designation must be certified by the president and secretary of the relevant club. 

30.4 The proxy is entitled to vote as proxy for the non–attending Elector of a District Club. 

31. Form of proxy 

31.1 An instrument appointing a proxy must be in writing and signed by the president or secretary of the District Club on 

whose behalf the appointment is made. 

31.2 A proxy may vote as the proxy thinks fit on any motion or resolution in respect of which no manner of voting has been 

indicated to the proxy by the District Club appointing the proxy. 

31.3 An instrument appointing a proxy may be in any form that the Directors may accept or stipulate. 

32. Lodgement of powers of attorney and proxies 

32.1 For an instrument appointing an attorney to act on behalf of a District Club at all meetings of the Company (or at all 

meetings for a specified period) to be effective, the following documents must be received by the Company not less than 48 

hours (or any shorter period as the Directors may permit) before the commencement of the meeting or adjourned meeting at 

which the attorney proposes to vote: 
(1) the power of attorney or a certified copy of that power of attorney; and 

(2) any evidence that the Directors may reasonably require of the validity and non-revocation of that power of attorney. 

32.2 For the purposes of Rule 32.1, the Company receives these documents when they are received at any of the following: 

(1) the Company’s registered office; or 

(2) a place, or electronic address specified by the Company for the purpose in the notice of meeting. 

32.3 For an instrument (other than a power of attorney) appointing an Elector or proxy of a District Club to be effective, it 

must be received by the Company (at the place, or electronic address specified by the Company for the purpose in the notice 

convening the meeting) not less than 48 hours (or any shorter period as the Directors may permit) before the commencement 

of the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the proxy proposes to vote. 

33. Validity of proxies 

33.1 A vote exercised in accordance with the terms of an instrument of proxy, a power of attorney or other relevant instrument 
of appointment is valid despite the revocation of the instrument (or of the authority under which the instrument was executed) 

or the power if no notice in writing of the revocation has been received by the Company at its registered office at least 48 

hours (or any shorter period as the Directors may permit) before the commencement of the meeting, or adjourned meeting at 

which the instrument is used or the power is exercised. 

33.2 A proxy is not revoked by the principal attending and taking part in the meeting, unless the principal actually votes at 

the meeting on the resolution for which the proxy is proposed to be used. 

34. Where proxy is incomplete 

34.1 No instrument appointing a proxy is treated as invalid merely because it does not contain: 

(1) the address of the appointer or of a proxy; 

(2) the proxy’s name or the name of the office held by the proxy; or 

(3) in relation to any or all resolutions, an indication of the manner in which the proxy is to vote. 
34.2 Where the instrument does not specify the name of a proxy, the instrument is taken to be given in favour of the chairman 

of the meeting. 

35. Rights of officers and advisers to attend General Meeting 

35.1 Any person (whether a District Club Elector or not) permitted by the Directors to attend any General Meeting is entitled 

to be present and, at the request of the Chair, to be heard at that General 

Meeting. 
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ROTARY INTERNATIONAL DISTRICT 9620 LIMITED

ABN 80 125 588 696

FINANCIAL REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2022













A 

Anthony Bryen & Co Pty Ltd 

ABN 37 163 461 550 

Director – Anthony Bryen 

 PO Box 565 Albany Creek Qld 4035 

☎ 0418 159 051 

✉ anthonybryenandco@gmail.com 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

Anthony Bryen & Co 

Chartered Accountants 

ROTARY INTERNATIONAL DISTRICT 9620 LIMITED 

ABN 80 125 588 696 

 

AUDITOR'S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER S 307C OF THE 

CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF ROTARY INTERNATIONAL 

DISTRICT 9620 LIMITED 

 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 June 2022 there have 

been: 

 

(i) no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Corporations Act 

2001 in relation to the audit; and 

 

(ii) no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 
Anthony Bryen & Co 

 

 
 

A C Bryen 

Director 

 

Dated at Brisbane this twentieth day of October 2022 
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A 

Anthony Bryen & Co Pty Ltd 

ABN 37 163 461 550 

Director – Anthony Bryen 

 PO Box 565 Albany Creek Qld 4035 

☎ 0418 159 051 

✉ anthonybryenandco@gmail.com 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation 

Anthony Bryen & Co 

Chartered Accountants 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS 

ROTARY INTERNATIONAL DISTRICT 9620 LIMITED 

Opinion 

 

We have audited the financial report of Rotary International District 9620 Limited "the Company", 

which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2022, the statement of profit or loss 

and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the 

year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting 

policies, and the directors' declaration. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Rotary International District 9620 Limited is in 

accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 

• giving a true and fair view of the company's financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of its 

performance for the year then ended; and 

 

• complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described in Note 1, and the 

Corporations Regulations 2001. 

 

Basis for Opinion 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the 

Financial Report section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the 

ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code 

of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report 

in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

 

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has 

been given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at 

the time of this auditor's report. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion. 

 

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting 

 

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The 

financial report has been prepared for the purpose of fulfilling the directors' financial reporting 

responsibilities under the Corporations Act 2001. As a result, the financial report may not be suitable 

for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
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Anthony Bryen & Co 

Chartered Accountants 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report 

 

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 

true and fair view and have determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the 

financial report is appropriate to meet the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and is 

appropriate to meet the needs of the members. The directors' responsibility also includes such 

internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of a financial report 

that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company's ability to 

continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or 

to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report 

 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 

audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 

if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial report. 

 

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 

to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if 

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 

audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events 

in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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Anthony Bryen & Co 

Chartered Accountants 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 

 

Anthony Bryen & Co 

 

A C Bryen 

Partner 

Dated at Brisbane this twentieth day of October 2022 
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Corporations Act 2001 
 

Company limited by guarantee and not having a share capital 
 

Constitution of 
 

Rotary International District 9620 Limited 

Introduction 

1. General 
 

1.1 Definitions 
 

(1) In this Constitution, unless the contrary intention appears: Act means the Corporations 

Act 2001 and includes any amendment or re-enactment of it or any legislation passed in 
substitution for it; 

 

(2) Annual General Meeting means the annual meeting of the members of the Company 

required to be held each year under the Act and this Constitution; 
 

(3) Area Governors are appointed by the District Governor-elect. (refer to Assistant 
Governors). 

 
(4) Assistant Governors are appointed by the District Governor-elect with responsibilities as 

detailed in the District Policy Documents. 
 

(5) Board of Directors or Board means collectively the Directors of the Company so described 

in this Constitution; 
 

(6) Constitutional Documents means the Rotary International Constitution, the Rotary 

International By-Laws, the Standard Rotary Club Constitution, the Rotary Code of Policies 
and the Rotary International Manual of Procedure as amended from time to time; 

 

(7) Committee means a body established in accordance with Rule 51 to assist in the 

administration of the affairs of District 9620; 
 

(8) Company means Rotary International District 9620 Limited. 
 

(9) Corporation means any body corporate whether incorporated in the Commonwealth of 
Australia or elsewhere; 

 

(10) Director means a Director of the Company and includes all members of the Board; 
 

(11) District means a geographical area in which Rotary Clubs are grouped for Rotary 
International administrative purposes, pursuant to the Constitutional Documents; 

 

(12) District Club means a Rotary or Rotaract Club that is chartered by Rotary International 

within the locality of District 9620 ; 
 

(13) District Financial Club means any club as defined under rule 1(11) except for those 

excluded by Rule 28.10 
 

(14) District Governor means the Officer of Rotary International duly elected pursuant to the 

Constitutional Documents to the Office of Governor of District 9620. 
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(15) District Governor-elect means the person who, pursuant to the Constitutional Documents, 
has been appointed to serve as Governor of District 9620 in the next Rotary Year 

(16) District Governor-nominee means the person who, pursuant to the Constitutional 

Documents, has been appointed to serve as District Governor-elect of District 9620 in the 
year following that when the District Governor Elect is elected to serve. 

 

(17) District Governor Nominee Designate means the person who, pursuant to the 

Constitutional documents, has been appointed to serve in the role of the District Governor 
Nominee when the current incumbent (District Governor Nominee) moves to the role of 
District Governor Elect 

 

(18) District Governor’s Year means the Rotary Year in which a District Rotarian or 

Rotaractor serves as District Governor; 
 

(19) District Rotarian/Rotaractor means a Rotarian or Rotaractor (other than an honorary 

member) in good standing of a District Rotary/Rotaract Club and includes one period per 
year of seven days of non membership if that person is changing clubs; 

 

(20) District 9620 means the geographical area promulgated by the President of Rotary 

International from time to time. It includes the former Rotary International Districts 9600 and 
9630. 

 

(21) Elector means the District Rotarian(s)/Rotaractor(s) duly authorised to cast a vote or votes 
on behalf of their District Club at a General Meeting of the Company and in the case of any 

General Meeting of the nature referred to in Rule 25 hereof; 
 

(22) General Meeting means any meeting of the District Clubs at any time, which may be but is 

not limited to meetings known as: 

(a) District Conference 

(b) District Resolutions Meeting 

(c) District Training Assembly 

 
(23) Honorary member is a class of as defined membership by Rotary international; 

(24) Immediate Past District Governor means: 

(a) the person who, pursuant to the Constitutional Documents, served as the District 
Governor of District 9620 in the Rotary Year immediately preceding a current Rotary 
Year; 

(b) in the Restructure Year only, the Immediate Past District Governors of the Company 
shall be the persons who served in the Rotary Year immediately preceding the 
Restructure Year as the District Governors for Districts 9600 and 9630 respectively. 

 

(25) Member means a District Rotary or Rotaract Club and where the context permits (and is 

appropriate in the reasonable opinion of the Board), a Provisional District Club; 
 

(26) Month means a calendar month; 
 

(27) Notice includes any communication in writing, email or as otherwise approved by the Board 

or members; 
 

(28) Objects of the Company means the objects of the Company set out in Rule 5.1; 
 

(29) Officer of the Company has the meaning set out in the Act; 
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(30) Prescribed Rate means the base rate charged by the Company's principal banker to 

corporate customers from time to time in respect of overdraft loans in excess of one hundred 
thousand dollars ($100,000.00) calculated on a daily basis and a year comprised of 365 
days; 

 

(31) Provisional District Club means a Rotary/Rotaract Club that is in formation, has not yet 
chartered but does have written recognition from the District Governor that it is in the 
formation stage 

 

(32) Provisional District Rotarian/Rotaractor means a Rotarian or Rotaractor who is a member 

of a Provisional District Club; 
 

(33) Register means the register of District Clubs kept pursuant to Rule 12.5 and the Act; 
 

(34) Rotary Club/Rotaract Club means a body of Rotarians/Rotaractors which: 

(a) has been admitted to membership of Rotary International; and 

(b) is functioning and remains a member in good standing of Rotary International; 
 

(35) Rotary International means the association of Rotary Clubs throughout the world known as 
Rotary International registered in the United States of America under the Illinois general Not 
for Profit Corporation Act of 1996; 

 

(36) Rotary International By-Laws means the by-laws adopted by Rotary International as 

amended from time to time; 
 

(37) Rotary International Constitution means the Constitution adopted by Rotary International 

as amended from time to time; 
 

(38) Rotary International Manual of Procedure means the compilation of statements of policies 
and procedures adopted by Conventions, the Council on Legislation, the Rotary International 
Board of Directors and the Trustees of the Rotary Foundation of Rotary International, which 
also incorporates the other Constitutional Documents and other legal documents; 

 

(39) Rotary Year means the year ending 30 June; 
 

(40) Rules means the provisions of this Constitution as amended from time to time and a 

reference to a provision of these Rules is a reference to that provision as amended from time 
to time; 

 

(41) Seal means the Common Seal (if any) of District 9620; 
 

(42) Policy Documents means the Policy Documents for the management of the District 

adopted by the Board and as amended from time to time, 
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(43) District Rotaract Representative means the person who has been recorded with Rotary 

International with the approval of the District Governor or District Governor Elect. 
 

1.2 Subject to Rule 2, unless the context otherwise requires: 
 

(1) Terms or expressions defined or in common use in the Constitutional Documents have a 
similar meaning in these Rules. 

 

(2) Subject to the requirements of the Act, where any such term or expression defined, used or 
incorporated by reference in these Rules, or its meaning is varied or changed in accordance 
with the requirements of the Constitutional Documents from time to time, then these Rules 
shall be construed as if they have been similarly varied or changed. 

 

1.3 Interpretation 
 

(1) Where the context permits, the word District in this document will for all relevant purposes 
mean District 9620 

 

(2) Reference to: 
 

(a) one gender includes the others; 
 

(b) the singular includes the plural and the plural includes the singular; and 
 

(c) a person includes a body corporate. 
 

(3) Except so far as the contrary intention appears in this Constitution: 
 

(a) an expression in this Constitution has the same meaning as in the Act; and 
 

(b) if an expression is given different meanings for the purposes of different provisions of 
the Act, the expression has, in a provision of this Constitution that deals with a matter 
dealt with by a particular provision of the Act, the same meaning as in that provision 
of the Act. 

 

(4) “Including” and similar expressions are not words of limitation. 
 

(5) Headings and any table of contents or index are for convenience only and do not form part of 
this Constitution or affect its interpretation. 

 

(6) All references to money are taken to be in Australian Dollars, unless otherwise stated. 
 

(7) “In writing” and “written” includes all modes of reproducing or representing words in a visible 
form including all electronic means. 

 

2. Inconsistency 
 

2.1 To the extent that there is any inconsistency between a provision in any of the documents referred to 
in Rule 2.1(2) and other provisions in any of them or between a provision in any of those documents 
and a provision in any other document referred to in any of them: 

 

(1) a specific provision takes precedence over a general provision; and 
 

(2) otherwise, to the extent necessary to resolve the inconsistency but subject always to the 
requirements of the Act, the following order of precedence applies: 
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(a) the Rotary International Constitution; 
 

(b) the Rotary International By-laws; 
 

(c) the Rotary International Manual of Procedure; 
 

(d) the Rotary Code of Policies; and 
 

(e) these Rules . 
 

3. Replaceable Rules 
 

3.1 The replaceable rules contained in the Act do not apply to the Company. 
 

4. Actions authorised under the Act and compliance with the Act 
 

4.1 Where the Act authorises or permits a Company to do any matter or thing if so authorised by its 
constitution, the Company is and will be taken by this Rule to be authorised and permitted to do that 
matter or thing, provided it complies with Rule 5, despite any other provisions of this Constitution. 

 

5. Objects 
 

5.1 The Objects of the Company are: 
 

(1) To further the Object of Rotary as enacted by Rotary International by: 
 

(a) providing leadership and supervision of the District Clubs; 
 

(b) helping the individual District Clubs advance the Object of Rotary; 
 

(c) owning, leasing or otherwise holding assets or an interest in assets for the benefit of 
the District and/or one or more District Clubs, as the Board determines in its sole 
discretion from time to time, including for example but without limitation, plant and 
equipment and real property; and 

 

(d) holding, maintaining and utilizing cash or other financial reserves or provisions for the 
benefit of the District and/or one or more District Clubs, as the Board determines in its 
sole discretion from time to time; 

 

(2) to encourage, promote, extend and support District Clubs and to co-ordinate their activities; 
 

(3) to assist the District Governor in coordinating the activities of District Clubs and in the 
performance of their duties and responsibilities under the Constitutional Documents, these 
Rules, the District Policies and the District Strategic Plan; 

 

(4) to ensure continuity within District 9620 by working with the past, current and incoming 
District leaders in fostering effective District Clubs; 

 

(5) to assemble and disseminate information and knowledge about matters affecting Rotary 
International, District 9620, the Rotary Foundation of Rotary International and District Clubs 
to District Rotarians/Rotaractors and the public; 

 

(6) to work with the District Clubs and their leaders to encourage participation in the District 
Strategic Plan(s); 

 

(7) to provide inspiration and motivation to the District Clubs; 
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(8) to promote, demonstrate, advance and encourage interest and participation in the 
administration, meetings, happenings and events involving District Clubs and District 
Rotarians and Rotaractors; 

 

(9) to co-operate with any Government or private body in fostering the Objects of the Company 
and Rotary International; 

 

(10) not to diminish the services provided by District Clubs and District Rotarians/Rotaractors on a 
local level; 

 

(11) to raise funds, undertake projects and receive donations or grants in the furtherance of its 
Objects; 

 

(12) to expend all monies and funds raised or received for the furtherance of its Objects; 
 

(13) not to conduct the Company activities for the direct or indirect profit or gain for its Members; 
 

(14) generally to do all things which in the opinion of the Board of Directors are incidental or 
conducive to the attainment of the above Objects or any of them; and 

 

5.2 Nothing in this Rule 5 will be construed to limit the manner in which the Company may exercise its 
powers to pursue the Objects stated in Rule 5.1. 

 

5.3 The Company can only exercise its powers under the Act to: 
 

(1) carry out the Objects in Rule 5.1; and 
 

(2) do all things incidental or convenient in relation to the exercise of power under Rule 5.1. 
 

5.4 When interpreting the Objects in Rule 5.1, each Object may be construed jointly or separately and 
independently of any other Objects, as the case requires. 

 

6. Rotary International 
 

6.1 This Company has been formed with the express approval of Rotary International and its operation 
is subject to the continued approval by Rotary International. If the approval of Rotary International is 
withdrawn this Company must wind itself up or cease all association with Rotary International as well 
as change its name so it no longer refers to Rotary or Rotary International. 

 

Income and Property 
 

7. Application of income and property 
 

7.1 The Company may only act as a non-profit and non-share capital corporation. 
 

7.2 Subject to Rules 7.3 and 7.4, income and property of the Company must be applied solely towards 
the promotion of the Objects of the Company set out in Rule 5 and no portion of it may be paid or 
transferred, directly or indirectly, to any District Club, Rotarian, Rotaractor, Director or other Officer 
of the Company whether by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise. 

 

7.3 Nothing in Rules 7.1 or 7.2 prevents any payment in good faith by the Company of: 
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(1) reasonable and proper remuneration to any District Club, District Rotarian or District 
Rotaractor for any services rendered or goods supplied in the ordinary and usual course of 
business to the Company; 

 

(2) payment of allowances and payment or reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses incurred 
by a District Club, District Rotarian or District Rotaractor on behalf of the Company where 
the amount payable does not exceed an amount previously approved by the Directors or 
where the incurring of the expense is ratified by the Directors; 

 

(3) moneys to a District Rotarian or District Rotaractor, being a person engaged in any 
profession or business, for all usual professional or other charges for work done by that 
person or that person's firm or employer, where the provision of the service has the prior 
approval of the Directors and where the amount payable is approved by the Directors and is 
not more than an amount which commercially would be reasonable payment for the service; 
or 

 

(4) interest at a rate not exceeding the Prescribed Rate on money borrowed from a District Club. 
 

7.4 The Company must not pay fees to Directors, however the Company may make payments in good 
faith for: 

 

(1) the payment or reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses (either directly or by prior approved 
allowance) incurred by a Director in the performance of the Director's duties to the Company 
where the amount payable does not exceed an amount previously approved by the Directors 
or where the Directors ratify the incurring of the expense; 

 

(2) moneys owing to any Director, being a person engaged in any profession or business, for all 
usual professional or other charges for work done by that person or that person's firm or 
employer where the provision of the service has the prior approval of the Directors and where 
the amount payable is approved by the Directors and is not more than an amount which 
commercially would be reasonable payment for the service; 

 

(3) an insurance premium in respect of a contract ensuring a Director to which subsection 212(1) 
of the Act refers or the provision of a financial benefit to a Director which would be permitted 
by the Act were the Company a public company; and 

 

(4) any other payment or allowance to any Director approved for good cause in furtherance of 
the Objects of the Company approved by the other Directors. 

 

7.5 Nothing in these Rules prevents the District Governor or other Officer of the Company from receiving 
and retaining any moneys paid or allowed to them by Rotary International in the course of their 
service to Rotary International. 

 

8. Administration and District Policies 
 

8.1 The Company will be managed by or under the direction of a Board of Directors. 
 

8.2 The Board of Directors shall comprise not less than 6 nor more than 9 District Rotarians or 
Rotaractors and the Board will be responsible for the administration of the Company. 

 

8.3 The District Rotarians holding the positions of: 
 

(1) District Governor; 
 

(2) Immediate Past District Governor who served in District 9620; 
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(3) District Governor-elect; 
 

(4) District Governor-nominee; 
 

(5) Company Secretary 
 

(6) District Administrator 
 

(7) Finance Director 

 

in each Rotary Year shall always be members of the Board of Directors and Officers of the 
Company. 

 

8.4 The District Governor-elect must within a reasonable time preceding their District Governor’s year 
give notice in writing to the District Administrator and Company Secretary of the full names, 
addresses and other relevant particulars of the District Rotarians who are to serve as members of 
the Board of Directors in the next Rotary year. 

 

8.5 In accordance with Rotary International Code of policy the District Governor shall report annually to 
the Clubs on the state of the District incorporation. 

 

8.6 A new Board of Directors (constituted as provided in this Rule) shall take office at the 
commencement of each Rotary year. 

 

8.7 The Board may make, amend or repeal District Policies, consistent with this Constitution for the 
good order, business conduct and management of the Company. 

 

8.8 The Board shall notify District Clubs of any changes to the District Policies. 
 

8.9 A District Policy may be set aside or amended at a General Meeting. 

 
 

9. District Governor Role and Selection of the District Governor Nominee Designate 
 

9.1 The District Governor is: 
 

(1) the officer of Rotary International in the District functioning under the general control and 
supervision of the Board of Rotary International; 

 

(2) charged by Rotary International with the duty of furthering the Object of Rotary by providing 
leadership and supervision of the District Clubs; and 

 

(3) the highest-ranking Officer of the Company. 
 

9.2 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Act: 
 

(1) the District Governor is the Chair of the Company; and 
 

(2) where the word “Chair” is used, it refers to the District Governor except with respect to The 
District Nominating Committee 
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9.3 The powers, duties and obligations of the District Governor are as set out in the Constitutional 
Documents and may also be contained in the District Policies and the District Leadership Plan. 

 

9.4 The District Governor will appoint and, at their discretion delegate functions of the management of 
the Company to, Assistant/Area Governors and Committees. 

 

9.5 Despite Rules 9.1, 9.2, 9.3 and 9.4, the powers of the Chair do not include the powers of the Board 
that must be exercised by the Board. The Board shall not divest its future exercise of discretions 
whether conferred by the Act or this Constitution. 

 

9.6 The District Governor Nominee Designate shall be appointed by the District Nominating Committee. 
 

9.7 The District Nominating Committee for that purpose shall comprise: 
 

(a) Category 1 - The District Governor; 
 

(b) Category 2 - The District Governor-elect; 
 

(c) Category 3 - The District Governor-nominee 
 

(d) Category 4 – A Past District Governor determined by a majority decision of the Board, 
who shall chair the nominating committee. They will hold a casting vote, if required.  
They will have served as a Past District Governor in District 9620, 9630 or 9600 
during the five years prior to the establishment of the nomination committee. 

 

(e) Category 5 - Two District Rotarians/ Rotaractors determined by a majority decision of 
the committee members from Categories 1,2,3 and 4. They will have held office for a 
term in a District Leadership position (not a District Governor) or full term as 
President of a District Club in District 9620, 9630 or 9600 during the five years prior 
to the establishment of the nominating committee. 

 

No more than one person on the nominating committee can be from any one club  
 
No member of the nominating committee can be from the club of an applicant. 
 
No member of the Nomination Committee will be considered eligible that year 

 

In instances where a person from Categories 1,2, 3 or 4 is on the nominating 
committee and is excluded under this provision their replacement will be selected by 
the Board of the Company. 

 

9.8 The composition of the Nominating Committee must be finalized before 31 January with the Chair 
(Category 4) to be in place no later than 15 November. 

 

Nominations for the position of District Governor Nominee will be called no later than 31 December. 

Applications for the position of District Governor Nominee will close on 28 February. 

The timeframes for the selection of the District Governor Nominee will be as provided by Rotary 
International from time to time. 
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10. Other Officers 

 

10.1 A District Rotarian/Rotaractor will, in accordance with the Act, be appointed by the Board of 
Directors to the position of Company Secretary upon such conditions as the Board may think fit and 
any person so appointed may be removed by the Board. 

 

10.2 The Board of Directors may appoint an Acting Secretary as temporary substitute for the Company 
Secretary. Whilst exercising such office, the Acting Secretary will be deemed to be the Company 
Secretary for the purpose of this Constitution. 

 

10.3 A District Rotarian/ Rotaractor will, in accordance with the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936, be 
appointed by the Board to the position of Public Officer of the Company upon such conditions as the 
Board may think fit and any person so appointed may be removed by the Board. 

 

10.4 Except as provided for in Rules 10.1, 10.2 and 10.3, the Board of Directors may from time to time: 
 

(1) create any position or positions in the Company conferred with any powers or responsibilities 
as the District Governor may from time to time determine; and 

 

(2) appoint any person, whether or not a Director, to any position or positions created under Rule 
10.4(1). 

 

10.5 The District Governor may at any time terminate the appointment of a person holding a position 
created under Rule 10.4 and may abolish the position if lawfully permitted to do so. 

 

10.6 Each Officer of the Company and any person appointed under Rule 10.1, 10.2, 10.3 and 10.4(2) 
must be a District Rotarian/Rotaractor. 

 

11. Liability 
 

11.1 The liability of the Members is limited. 
 

11.2 Each Member undertakes to contribute to the property of the Company if the Company is wound up 
while it is a member or within 1 year after it ceases to be a member, for payment of the Company's 
debts and liabilities contracted before it ceases to be a member and of the costs, charges and 
expenses of winding up and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributories among themselves, 
such amount as may be required, but not exceeding $10.00. 

 

12. Members 
 

12.1 The number of District Clubs with which the Company proposes to be registered or which shall be 
Members of the Company is not limited. 

 

12.2 The membership of the Company shall comprise and be strictly limited to chartered District Rotary 
and Rotaract Clubs. 

 

12.3 A District Club may consent to become a member of the Company and have its membership 
entered on the Register once that District Club provides evidence satisfactory to the Company that: 

 

(1) Rotary International has granted to that District Club a Certificate of Membership in Rotary 
International; and 

 

(2) It has paid any applicable membership fee to the Company. 
 

12.4 The admission to or removal from membership of Rotary International of a District Club immediately 
and automatically results in a corresponding change in the Membership of the Company. 
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12.5 The Company Secretary must cause a Register to be kept in accordance with the Act in which will 
be entered the names and addresses of all District Clubs admitted to membership of the Company 
and the date of admission. 

 
 

13. Membership fee and annual subscription 
 

13.1 Fees and subscriptions will be established through the process of budget estimates for the 
succeeding Rotary Year, such estimates being prepared by the District Governor-elect for their 
District Governor’s Year in consultation with the District Finance Committee, notice of which must be 
provided to District Clubs at least 28 days prior to the General Meeting at which that budget is to be 
considered and approved or amended. Voting can be undertaken at a general meeting in person, 
on-line or by post 

 

13.2 The District 9620 budget shall be financed by the District Clubs by way of a per capita levy on the 
members of those clubs. The amount of the levy shall be decided in accordance with the relevant 
provisions of the Rotary International By-Laws in force from time to time. 

 

13.3 The per capita levy is mandatory on all District Clubs. The invoice will be distributed twice per year 
and the number of members per Club will be as recorded on Rotary.org on January 1 and July 1 of 
each year. 

 

14. Winding Up 
 

14.1 The Company must immediately and automatically cease operations and must be wound up in 
accordance with the Act after the following has occurred: - 

 

(1) the directive of the Rotary International Board; or 
 

(2) the approval of two-thirds of the District Clubs in a vote at the General Meeting to be held at 
the District Conference, at any other Special General Meeting convened under the Act or in a 
ballot-by-mail. 

 

14.2 The District Governor must give the Rotary International Board: 
 

(1) notice of any decision by the District Clubs to wind up the Company; and 
 

(2) a final report upon the completion of the process of winding up the Company. 
 

14.3 If, upon the winding-up or dissolution of the Company in accordance with the Act there remains, 
after satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities, any property of any kind (surplus) then that surplus 
must not be paid to, or distributed among the District Clubs, but must be given or transferred to 
some other organisation(s) or institution(s) having objects similar to the Objects of the Company 
which continue(s) to perform the Company’s activities in respect to the District Clubs (for example 
some other Rotary District(s)), or if there is no such entity, one or more organisations or institutions 
with objects similar to those of the Company provided the relevant organisation or institution has a 
memorandum of association or constitution which prohibits distribution of its or their income and 
property among its members to an extent at least as great as is imposed on the Company under 
Rule 7.2 of this Constitution, any organisation(s) or institution(s) to be determined by the District 
Clubs at or before the time of dissolution, and in default of any such determination by application to 
the Supreme Court of Queensland for determination. 

 

15. Indemnity 
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15.1 To the extent permitted by the Act and without limiting the powers of the Company, the Company 
must indemnify and indemnifies each person who is, or has been, an Officer of the Company against 
any liability which results directly or indirectly from facts or circumstances relating to the person 
serving or having served in that capacity in relation to the Company: 

 

(1) whether or not the liability arises from a prior contingent liability, and provided that the liability 
does not arise out of conduct involving a lack of good faith or conduct known to the person to 
be wrongful; and 

 

(2) for costs and expenses incurred by the person in defending proceedings, whether civil or 
criminal, in which judgment is given in favour of the person or in which the person is 
acquitted, or in connection with any application in relation to proceedings in which the court 
grants relief to the person under the Act. 

 

15.2 The Company need not indemnify a person as provided for in Rule 15.1 in respect of a liability to the 
extent that the person is entitled to an indemnity in respect of that liability under a contract of 
insurance. 

 

15.3 To the extent permitted by the Act and without limiting the powers of the Company, the Directors 
may authorise the Company to, and the Company may enter into any: 

 

(1) documentary indemnity in favour of; or 
 

(2) insurance policy for the benefit of, a person who is, or has been, an employee or Officer of 
the Company, which indemnity or insurance policy may be in such terms as the Directors 
approve and, in particular, may apply to acts or omissions prior to or after the time of entering 
into the indemnity or policy. 

 

15.4 The benefits of each indemnity given in Rule 15.1 continues, even after its terms or the terms of this 
Rule 15are modified or deleted, in respect of a liability arising out of acts or omissions occurring prior 
to the modification or deletion. 

 

16. Common Seal 
 

16.1 The Company may have a common seal. If the Company has a common seal it may also have a 
duplicate common seal. 

 

16.2 A seal may only be used on a resolution of the Board. Every document to which the seal is affixed 
must be signed by the District Governor (or in their absence, the immediate Past District Governor) 
and the District Finance Director (or in their absence, one other Director). 

 

16.3 This Rule 16 does not limit the ways in which the Company may execute a document. 
 

16.4 This Rule 16 does not otherwise limit the ways in which the Company may execute a document 
provided always that any deed or other document intended to bind the Company to a contractual or 
similar legal obligation or pursuant to which the Company will incur an indebtedness in excess of 
$10,000.00 must be signed in the same manner as Rule 16.2. 

 

17. Convening meetings 
 

17.1 The Company must, in each Rotary Year, hold: 
 

(1) an Annual General Meeting; and 
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(2) General Meetings convened in accordance with these Rules or the Act including any such 
meeting that may be held in conjunction with the District Training Assembly and the District 
Conference. 

 

17.2 The District Governor may determine the date, time and place of those meetings in their District 
Governor’s Year but the Annual General Meeting must be held at least once in each calendar year 
and within 5 months of the end of each Rotary Year unless the Australian Securities and Investment 
Commission approves otherwise. 

 

17.3 The notice convening the Annual General Meeting must be given at least 21 days in advance of  the 
Annual General Meeting and specify that the meeting is an Annual General Meeting. The ordinary 
business to be conducted at the Annual General Meeting is: 

 

(1) the consideration of the annual financial report, Directors' report and auditor's report; 
 

(2) the confirmation in office of the Board of Directors selected in accordance with these Rules 
(as the case requires) for the current and/or next Rotary Year; 

 

(3) the status of the Company’s incorporation. 
 

17.4 The District Governor or any three Directors may convene a General Meeting whenever the District 
Governor or those Directors think fit by giving at least 21 days’ notice, provided that those same 
Directors may not convene more than one extraordinary general meeting in any six (6) month 
period. 

 

17.5 The Directors who convene a general meeting under Rule 17.4 may, with the agreement of the 
District Governor, cancel that meeting by notice in writing to all District Clubs, but no meeting 
convened on the requisition of District Clubs may be cancelled without the consent of each 
convening District Club. 

 

17.6 The District Governor may postpone a General Meeting or change the place at which it is to be held 
by notice not later than 72 hours prior to the time of the meeting to all persons to whom the notice of 
meeting (the first notice) was given. The postponing notice must specify the place, date and time of 
the further meeting. The meeting is taken to be duly convened under the first notice. 

 

17.7 The District Governor must, on request in writing of the District Clubs representing not less than 10% 
of the total number of District Clubs convene a General Meeting of the Company; 

 

17.8 A request by District Clubs for a General Meeting pursuant to Rule 17.7 must: 
 

(1) be in writing and state the objects of the meeting; 
 

(2) be signed by the Presidents of the District Clubs requesting the meeting; and 
 

(3) be sent to the registered office of the Company and the District Governor. 
 

17.9 If the District Governor does not cause a General Meeting to be held within 1 month after the date 
on which the request is sent to the registered office of the Company, the District Clubs which make a 
request under Rule 17.7 may request the Company Secretary to convene a General Meeting to be 
held not later than 3 months after that date and the Company Secretary must then convene a 
General Meeting. 

 

17.10 If a General Meeting is convened by District Clubs in accordance with Rule 17.7, it must be 
convened in the same manner so far as possible as a meeting convened under Rule 17.4. 
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18. Notice of General Meetings 
 

18.1 Each notice convening a General Meeting must contain the information required by the Act. 
 

18.2 The non-receipt of a notice convening a General Meeting by, or the accidental omission to give 
notice to, any person entitled to receive notice does not invalidate the proceedings at or any 
resolution passed at the meeting. 

 

19. Telephonic and electronic/direct voting 
 

19.1 A District Club may request to have its Elector(s) present at a General Meeting by teleconference or 
electronic means. If a majority of Directors consent to Elector(s) being present at that meeting by 
teleconference or other electronic means, the Directors must (subject to appropriate facilities being 
available) use their best endeavours to facilitate the attendance of those Electors at the meeting. An 
Elector present via teleconference or electronic means will be responsible for making the connection 
to the meeting and an Elector present must be permitted to vote by indicating whether they vote for 
or against a resolution. 

 

19.2 An Elector present via electronic means at the meeting is deemed to be present at the meeting. 
 

19.3 In addition to voting by Elector(s) indicating whether they vote for or against a resolution in a 
permitted meeting, the Directors may determine that at any General Meeting, Elector(s) who are 
entitled to attend that meeting are entitled to a direct vote without physically attending the General 
Meeting. A “direct vote” includes a vote delivered to the Company Secretary of the Company by 
post,, email or other electronic means approved by the Directors from time to time. The Directors 
may from time to time, specify the form, method and timing of giving a direct vote at a General 
Meeting in order for the vote to be valid. 

 

20. Business of General Meetings 
 

20.1 Unless the Electors present agree by majority otherwise, business must not be transacted at any 
General Meeting except as set out in the notice of meeting. 

 

21. Quorum 
 

21.1 Business must not be transacted at a General Meeting unless there is a quorum of Electors present 
at the time when the meeting proceeds to business. 

 

21.2 Except as otherwise provided in this Constitution, at least one half of the total number of District 
Financial Clubs of the Company present by their Electors or proxy constitutes a quorum. 

 

21.3 At any General Meeting dealing with the matters referred to in Rule 25.3, the quorum will be at least 
one half of the total number of District Financial Clubs of the Company present by their Electors or 
proxy 

 

22. If quorum not present 
 

22.1 If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting: 
 

(1) where the meeting is convened on the requisition of District Clubs, the proposed meeting is 
automatically dissolved (subject to Rule 24.1); 

 

(2) in any other case: 
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(a) the meeting stands adjourned to a day and at a time and place as the Directors 
decide or, if no decision is made by the Directors, to the same day in the next week at 
the same time and place (“the adjourned meeting”); and 

 

(b) if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time 
appointed for the meeting, the meeting can commence with the members present. 

 

23. Chair of meetings 
 

23.1 At every General Meeting: 
 

(1) the District Governor, or in the District Governor's absence; 
 

(2) the District Governor-elect, or in the District Governor-elect's absence; 
 

(3) a Director as chosen by Directors present at the meeting, or in the absence of all Directors; 
 

(4) an Elector of a District Club as elected by District Clubs' Electors present at the meeting; 

is to preside as Chair. 

24. Adjournments 
 

24.1 The Chair may and must if so directed by the meeting, adjourn the meeting from time to time and 
from place to place. 

 

24.2 The only business, which may be transacted at any adjourned meeting, is the business left 
unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place. 

 

24.3 When a meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given as 
in the case of an original meeting. 

 

24.4 Except as provided by Rule 24.3, it is not necessary to give any notice of an adjournment or of the 
business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting. 

 

25. Voting at General Meetings 
 

25.1 The provisions of the Rotary International By-Laws from time to time which determine (in respect of 
each District Club) such things as: 

 

(1) the selection, certification and sending of Electors; 
 

(2) the number of Electors and votes to which each such District Club is entitled; and 
 

(3) how those Electors must cast such votes, 
 

at any District Conference or District Resolutions Meeting (if one is held separately) (“the meeting 
rules”) shall, with all necessary amendments, apply to any General Meeting of the Company and this 
Constitution shall be read subject to and applied consistently with the meeting rules. 

 

25.2 Subject to Rules 19, any resolution to be considered at a General Meeting is to be decided on a 
show of hands of the Electors in attendance. For the avoidance of doubt, a proxy appointed under 
Rule 30 or an attorney appointed under Rule 32 may vote on a show of hands if authorised to be 
present and to vote under this Constitution. 
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25.3 Unless as an Elector, a District Rotarian/Rotaractor may not vote but can be heard at a General 
Meeting on matters submitted to a vote in respect of: 

 

(1) the selection of a District Governor Nominee Designate; 
 

(2) election of a member and alternate member of the nominating committee for Rotary 
International  director; 

 

(3) composition and terms of reference of the nominating committee for District Governor; 
 

(4) election of the representative and alternate representative of District 9620 to the Council on 
Legislation; and 

 

(5) the amount of the per capita levy. 
 

25.4 A declaration by the Chair that a resolution has on a show of hands been carried or lost and an entry 
to that effect in the minutes of the meeting are conclusive evidence of the fact without the need to 
show the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution. 

 

25.5 District Clubs have the right to demand a poll upon any resolution presented to a General Meeting in 
accordance with the Act. 

 

25.6 District Clubs have the right to demand and the Chair has the right to require that any resolution 
presented to a General Meeting is to be decided by secret ballot. 

 

26. Procedure for polls and secret ballot 
 

26.1 A poll or secret ballot must be taken in the manner and at the time as determined by the Chair. 
 

26.2 The result of the poll or secret ballot is a resolution of the meeting at which the poll or secret ballot 
took place. 

 

26.3 If a poll or secret ballot has been demanded or is required at a meeting, the meeting may continue 
with the transaction of business other than the resolution on which the poll or secret ballot was 
demanded or required. 

 

27. Chair's casting vote 
 

27.1 In the case of an equality of votes on a show of hands or on a poll the Chair will have a casting vote. 
 

28. Representation and voting of District Clubs 
 

28.1 A District Club may only vote at a General Meeting of the Company by its Elector or if no Elector is 
able to attend, a duly appointed proxy or attorney 

 

28.2 On each matter submitted to a vote to which this Rule 28 applies at any General Meeting, each 
District Club must vote in accordance with the meeting rules referred to in Rule 25.1. 

 

28.3 The Elector(s) of a District Club at a General Meeting of the Company is or are: 
 

(1) its President if present at any General Meeting of the Company (except District Training 
Assembly); 

 

(2) its President Elect (or his or her duly authorised designated representative pursuant to the 
Constitutional Documents in the absence of the President Elect) at the District Training 
Assembly; or 
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(3) 1 or more District Rotarians who are members of and duly selected and certified by that 
District Club as its Elector(s) pursuant to the Constitutional Documents for the relevant 
meeting. 

 

28.4 A District Club must give formal written notice of appointment of: 
 

(1) the designated representative appointed under Rule 28.3 (2); and 
 

(2) its Elector(s) appointed under Rule 28.3 (3), 
 

in accordance with the meeting rules and comply with the provisions of Rule 28 as to notice to the 
Company but is not otherwise required to give such notice. 

 

28.5 If a District Club is entitled to vote at a General Meeting, its Elector must cast such vote in the 
manner required by the Constitutional Documents. 

 

28.6 An Elector, proxy or attorney appointed to attend and vote for a District Club at a General Meeting 
has the same rights as a District Club: 

 

(1) to be heard at the meeting; 
 

(2) to vote (but subject to any limitations imposed in the appointment, the meeting rules and 
these Rules); and 

 

(3) to demand a poll. 
 

28.7 Notice of the appointment of an Elector, may be given by formal notice of such appointment duly 
signed on behalf of the District Club by its President and its Secretary or by the Elector signing the 
attendance book maintained to record attendance at such meeting. 

 

28.8 The formal notice or, as the case requires, the attendance book must contain the following 
information: 

 

(1) the District Club’s name; 
 

(2) the Elector's name and the name of the office held by the Elector; and 
 

(3) the meetings at which the appointment may be used. 
 

28.9 The following rules apply to such appointments: 
 

(1) an appointment may be a standing one and may authorise an Elector to vote at his or her 
discretion; 

 

(2) an undated appointment is taken to have been dated on the day it is given to the Company; 
 

(3) an appointment may specify the way the Elector is to vote on a particular resolution. If it 
does, the Elector must vote accordingly; 

 

(4) an appointment does not have to be witnessed; and 
 

(5) a later appointment revokes an earlier one if both appointments could not be validly 
exercised at the meeting. 

 

28.10 A District Club is not entitled to vote at a General Meeting unless all sums presently payable by the 
District Club in respect of membership of the Company and Rotary International have been paid in 
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full. This rule does not apply for debts of $300.00 or less and for such minor debts only, the Club will 
be eligible to vote. 

 

29. Objections to qualification to vote 
 

29.1 An objection to the qualification of a District Club to vote may be raised only at the meeting or 
adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is tendered. 

 

29.2 Any objection must be referred to the Chair, whose decision is final. 
 

29.3 A vote allowed after an objection is valid for all purposes. 

 
 

30. Proxies 
 

30.1 A District Club may designate a proxy for its absent Elector(s) at any General Meeting of the 
Company. 

 

30.2 The proxy must be a District Rotarian/Rotaractor and may be a member of the designating District 
Club. 

 

30.3 The proxy designation must be certified by the president and secretary of the relevant club or in their 
absence other members of the that Club’s Board duly appointed to do so. 

 

30.4 The proxy is entitled to vote as proxy for the non–attending Elector of a District Club. 
 

31. Form of proxy 
 

31.1 An instrument appointing a proxy must be in writing and signed by the president or secretary of the 
District Club on whose behalf the appointment is made. 

 

31.2 A proxy may vote as the proxy thinks fit on any motion or resolution in respect of which no manner of 
voting has been indicated to the proxy by the District Club appointing the proxy. 

 

31.3 An instrument appointing a proxy may be in any form that the Directors may accept or stipulate. 
 

32. Lodgement of powers of attorney and proxies 
 

32.1 For an instrument appointing an attorney to act on behalf of a District Club at all meetings of the 
Company (or at all meetings for a specified period) to be effective, the following documents must be 
received by the Company not less than 48 hours (or any shorter period as the Directors may permit) 
before the commencement of the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the attorney proposes to 
vote: 

 

(1) the power of attorney or a certified copy of that power of attorney; and 
 

(2) any evidence that the Directors may reasonably require of the validity and non-revocation of 
that power of attorney. 

 

32.2 For the purposes of Rule 32.1, the Company receives these documents when they are received at 
any of the following: 

 

(1) the Company's registered office; or 
 

(2) a place, or electronic address specified by the Company for the purpose in the notice of 
meeting. 
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32.3 For an instrument (other than a power of attorney) appointing an Elector or proxy of a District Club to 
be effective, it must be received by the Company (at the place, or electronic address specified by the 
Company for the purpose in the notice convening the meeting) not less than 48 hours (or any 
shorter period as the Directors may permit) before the commencement of the meeting or adjourned 
meeting at which the proxy proposes to vote. 

 

33. Validity of proxies 
 

33.1 A vote exercised in accordance with the terms of an instrument of proxy, a power of attorney or 
other relevant instrument of appointment is valid despite the revocation of the instrument (or of the 
authority under which the instrument was executed) or the power if no notice in writing of the 
revocation has been received by the Company at its registered office at least 48 hours (or any 
shorter period as the Directors may permit) before the commencement of the meeting, or adjourned 
meeting at which the instrument is used or the power is exercised. 

 

33.2 A proxy is not revoked by the principal attending and taking part in the meeting, unless the principal 
actually votes at the meeting on the resolution for which the proxy is proposed to be used. 

 

34. Where proxy is incomplete 
 

34.1 No instrument appointing a proxy is treated as invalid merely because it does not contain: 
 

(1) the address of the appointer or of a proxy; 
 

(2) the proxy's name or the name of the office held by the proxy; or 
 

(3) in relation to any or all resolutions, an indication of the manner in which the proxy is to vote. 
 

34.2 Where the instrument does not specify the name of a proxy, the instrument is taken to be given in 
favour of the chairman of the meeting. 

 

35. Rights of officers and advisers to attend General Meeting 
 

35.1 Any person (whether a District Club Elector or not) permitted by the Directors to attend any General 
Meeting is entitled to be present and, at the request of the Chair, to be heard at that General 
Meeting. 

 

36. Composition of the Board of Directors 
 

36.1 All Company Officers must be District Rotarians/Rotaractors. 
 

36.2 All members of the Board of Directors (other than the District Governor, the most recent Past District 
Governor, the District Governor-elect, the District Governor-nominee (who will always automatically 
be members of the Board of Directors) and the Company Secretary (who is to be selected by the 
Board of Directors as provided in Rule 10.1) are to be notified to the Company Secretary by the 
District Governor-elect as provided in Rule 8.5 to serve as Directors during his or her District 
Governor’s Year. 

 

36.3 A member of the Board of Directors may resign from the Board by giving written notice of resignation 
to the Company Secretary. 

 

36.4 The resignation takes effect on: 
 

(1) the day and at the time the notice is received by the Company Secretary; or 
 

(2) if a later day is stated in the notice – the later day. 
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37. Vacation of office 
 

37.1 In addition to the circumstances in which the office of a Director becomes vacant under the Act, the 
office of a Director becomes vacant if the Director: 

 

(1) becomes of unsound mind or becomes a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt 
with in any way under any legislation relating to mental health; 

 

(2) resigns by notice in writing to the Company; 
 

(3) ceases to be a District Rotarian/Rotaractor; 
 

(4) is absent for a continuous period of 6 months (without the consent of the other Directors) 
from meetings of Directors; or 

 

(5) dies. 
 

38. Powers of Directors 
 

38.1 Subject to the Act and Rule 9 of this Constitution, the business of the Company is managed by or 
under the direction of a Board of Directors, who may exercise all powers of the Company except 
those which are, by the Act or this Constitution, required to be exercised by the Company in General 
Meeting. 

 

38.2 Without limiting the generality of Rule 38.1, the Board of Directors may exercise all the powers of the 
Company: 

 

(1) to borrow money, to charge any property or business of the Company or all or any of the 
Company's uncalled capital; and 

 

(2) to issue debentures or give any other security for a debt, liability or obligation of the 
Company. 

 

39. Appointment of attorneys 
 

39.1 The Board of Directors may, by power of attorney, appoint any person to be the attorney of the 
Company for the purposes, and with the powers, authorities and discretions vested in or exercisable 
by the Board for any period and subject to any conditions as determined by the Directors. 

 

39.2 Any appointment under Rule 39.1 may be made on terms for the protection and convenience of 
persons dealing with the attorney as the Board of Directors thinks fit and may also authorise the 
attorney to delegate all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions vested in the attorney. 

 

40. Negotiable instruments 
 

40.1 All negotiable instruments of the Company must be executed by the persons and in the manner set 
out in Rule 16.4. 

 

41. Proceedings 
 

41.1 The Board of Directors is to meet together not less than once in each 2 calendar months for the 
dispatch of business and adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as the Board thinks fit. 

 

41.2 At any time, a Director with the approval of the District Governor or any three Directors without such 
approval, may request the Company Secretary to convene a meeting of the Directors and the 
Company Secretary must then convene a meeting of the Directors. 
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41.3 Reasonable notice must be given to every Director of the place, date and time of every meeting of 
the Directors. Where any Director is for the time being outside of Australia, notice need only be 
given to that Director if contact details have been given. 

 

42. Meetings via technology 
 

42.1 For the purposes of the Act, each Director, on becoming a Director, consents to the use of the 
following technology for calling or holding meetings of Directors: 

 

(1) video conference; 
 

(2) telephone; 
 

(3) electronic mail; 
 

(4) any other technology that permits each Director to communicate with every other Director; or 
 

(5) any combination of the technologies described in the above paragraphs. 
 

42.2 Where the Directors are not personally all in attendance at one place and are holding a meeting 
using technology and each Director can communicate with the other Directors: 

 

(1) the participating Directors are, for the purpose of every provision of this Constitution 
concerning meetings of the Directors, taken to be assembled together at a meeting and to be 
present at that meeting; and 

 

(2) all proceedings of those Directors conducted in that manner are as valid and effective as if 
conducted at a meeting at which all of them were present. 

 

43. Quorum at meetings 
 

43.1 At a meeting of Directors, the number of Directors whose presence is necessary to constitute a 
quorum is at least one half of Directors entitled to vote. Unless the Directors determine otherwise, 
the quorum need only be present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business. 

 

44. Vacancies 
 

44.1 The Directors may act even in the event of a vacancy or vacancies in the office of a Director or 
offices of Directors, but if the number of Directors is not sufficient to constitute a quorum at a 
meeting of Directors, the Directors may act only to appoint a sufficient number of Directors to 
constitute a quorum. 

 

45. Proceedings at meetings 
 

45.1 The District Governor must be appointed Chair at a meeting of Directors. In their absence the 
provisions of Rules 23.1(1), (2) and (3) (with all necessary modifications) shall apply. 

 

45.2 Subject to this Constitution, questions arising at a meeting of Directors are decided by a majority of 
votes of Directors present and voting and for all purposes any such decision is taken to be a 
decision of the Directors. 

 

45.3 If there is an even number of votes, the Chair of the meeting will have a casting vote in addition to 
the Chair's deliberative vote. 

 

45.4 For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding that a Director may hold two Board positions or offices 
that Director is entitled to one deliberative vote only at meetings of the Board 
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46. Director's Interest 
 

46.1 Except where permitted by the Act a Director who has a material personal interest in a matter that is 
being considered at a meeting of Directors: 

 

(1) must not be counted in a quorum; 
 

(2) must not vote on the matter; and 
 

(3) must not be present while the matter is being considered at the meeting. 
 

46.2 If a Director who has a material personal interest in a matter that is being considered at a meeting of 
the Directors is not prohibited by the Act from being present at the meeting and voting, the Director 
may be present, be counted in the quorum and may be heard but may not vote on the matter. 

 

46.3 A Director who is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested in a contract or proposed 
contract with the Company must, as soon as practicable after the relevant facts have come to the 
Director’s knowledge, declare the nature of the interest at a meeting of the Directors or by written 
notice to the Company Secretary. 

 

46.4 A Director who holds any office or possesses any property by which, whether directly or indirectly, 
duties or interests might be created in conflict with his or her duties or interests as Director must 
declare at a meeting of the Directors of the Company or by written notice to the Company Secretary 
the fact and the nature, character and extent of the conflict. 

 

46.5 For the purposes of rules 46.3 and 46.4, a Director’s interest or any conflict must be disregarded if it 
arises from or relates solely to: 

 

(1) a guarantee to be given by the Director (or by persons including the Director or by a body 
corporate of which the Director is a member or officer) in respect of a loan to the Company; 
or 

 

(2) the position of the Director as a director of a related body corporate. 
 

46.6 If a Director has an interest in a contract or proposed contract with the Company (other than as a 
member), or a conflicting interest or duty in relation to any other matter being considered by the 
Directors, and the Director discloses the nature and extent of the interest or duty at a meeting of the 
Directors or by written notice to the Company Secretary:: 

 

(1) if the disclosure is made before the contract is entered into: 
 

(a) the Director may retain benefits under the contract even though the Director has an 
interest in the contract; 

 

(b) the Company cannot avoid the contract merely because of the existence of the 
interest; and 

 

(c) the Director is not disqualified from the office of Director. 
 

46.7 For the purposes of rule 46.6 contract includes an arrangement, dealing or other transaction. 
 

46.8 Without limiting rules 46.1 to 46.7, a Director may to the extent permitted by the Act: 
 

(1) hold any other office or place of profit under the Company (other than the office of auditor) in 
conjunction with the office of Director; 
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(2) be interested in any operation, undertaking or business undertaken or assisted by the 
Company or in which the Company is or may be interested. 

 

47. Alternate Directors 
 

47.1 A Director may not appoint an alternate Director. 

 
 

48. Committees 
 

48.1 The Board of Directors may, delegate any of its powers to a Committee or Committees consisting of 
such number of them and/or other District Rotarians/Rotaractors as they think fit. A Committee may 
consist of one or more but usually 3 persons. 

 

48.2 A Committee to which any powers have been so delegated must exercise the powers delegated in 
accordance with any directions of the Board of Directors. A power so exercised is taken to be 
exercised by the Board. 

 

48.3 Rules 39 (except as to the frequency of meetings), 40, 43, 44, 46 and 47 (with any necessary 
modifications) apply to any Committee as if each reference in those Rules to the Directors was a 
reference to the members of the Committee and each reference to a meeting of Directors was to a 
meeting of the Committee. 

 

48.4 The number of members whose presence at a meeting of the Committee is necessary to constitute 
a quorum is the number determined by the Board of Directors and, if not so determined, is 2. Unless 
the Board determines otherwise the quorum need only be present at the time when the meeting 
proceeds to business. 

 

48.5 The minutes of all the proceedings and decisions of every Committee must be made entered and 
signed in the same manner in all respects as minutes of proceedings of the Directors are required by 
the Act to be made, entered and signed. 

 

49. Written resolutions by Directors 
 

49.1 The Directors of the Company may pass a resolution without a directors’ meeting being held if  a 
document containing the resolution: 

 

(1) is circulated to all those entitled to receive notice of a meeting to consider the resolution; 
 

(2) contains a statement that the signatories to it are in favour of that resolution; 
 

(3) sets out or identifies the terms of the resolution; and 
 

(4) has been signed by all of the Directors entitled to vote on that resolution. 
 

49.2 In the event requirements of Rule 50.1 are met a resolution in those terms shall be deemed to have 
been passed on the day on which and at the time at which the document was signed by the last of 
the Directors to so sign and the document has effect as a minute of the resolution. 

 

49.3 For the purposes of Rule 49.1: 
 

(1) two or more separate documents containing statements in identical terms, each of which is 
signed by one or more Directors, are together taken to constitute one document containing a 
statement in those terms signed by those Directors on the day on which and at the time at 
which the last of those documents to be signed was signed by the Director; and 
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(2) which is received by the Company or an agent of the Company and is sent for or on behalf of 
a Director is taken to be signed by that Director not later than the day and time of receipt of 
the document by the Company or its agent in legible written form. 

 

50. Defects in appointments 
 

50.1 All acts done by any meeting of Directors or meeting of a Committee are as valid as if each person 
was duly appointed and qualified to be a Director or a member of the Committee. 

 

50.2 Rule 50.1 applies even if it is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment 
of a person to be a Director or a member of a Committee that a person so appointed was 
disqualified. 

 

51 District Policies 
 

51.1 The Board may adopt by-laws called District Policies consistent with the Act, this Constitution and 
the Constitutional Documents embodying additional provisions for the governance of the Company. 

 

51.1 Such District Policies may be amended from time to time as therein provided. 
 

52 Executive Committee 
 

52.1 The Board of Directors may appoint an executive Committee subject to the following: 
 

52.2The Executive Committee shall comprise the District Governor, District Governor elect, the 
District Finance Director and the District Administrator 

 

(1) The powers of the Executive Committee are limited to those delegated by the Board of Directors 
and may include: 

 

52.2.1.1 to consider and recommend matters of policy to the Board; 
 

52.2.1.2 to deal with and be responsible for the day to day running of the Company and the affairs of 
District 9620; 

 

52.2.1.3 to supervise all committees of the Board; and 
 

52.2.1.4 to attend to matters of urgency which cannot at that time be practically dealt with by the 
Board as a whole provided that such powers must be exercised subject to any prior Board 
policies and resolutions; 

 

(2) The Executive Committee must report fully to each meeting of the Board of Directors on matters 
which it has dealt with and where necessary must seek ratification of decisions by the Board. 

 

53 Appointment of agents 
 

53.1The Board of Directors may from time to time by resolution or power of attorney under Seal of the 
Company appoint any person to be the agent of the Company: 

 

(1) for the purposes; 
 

(2) with the powers, authorities and discretions (not exceeding those exercisable by the Board of 
Directors under this Constitution); 

 

(3) for the period; and 
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(4) subject to the conditions, determined by the Board. 
 

53.2An appointment by the Board of Directors of an agent of the Company may be made in favour 
of: 

 

(1) any Corporation; or 
 

(2) the members, Directors, nominees or managers of any Corporation or firm. 
 

53.3The Board of Directors may appoint attorneys or agents by facsimile transmission or 
electronic mail to act for and on behalf of the Company. 

 

53.4An agent appointed under this Rule 53 may, be authorised by the Board of Directors to sub- 
delegate all or any of the powers, authorities or discretions for the time being vested in him, her or 
it. 

 

54 Notices generally 
 

54.1Any District Club which has not left at or sent to the registered office, a place of address or an 
electronic mail address (for registration in the register) at or to which all notices and documents of 
the Company may be served or sent is not entitled to receive any notice. 

 

54.2 A notice may be given by the Company to any District Club by: 
 

(1) serving it on the District Club's President or Secretary personally; 
 

(2) sending it by post to the District Club or leaving it at the District Club's address as shown in the 
register or the address supplied by the District Club to the Company for the giving of notices; 

 

(3) transmitting it electronically to the electronic mail address supplied by the District Club to the 
Company for the giving of notices. 

 

54.3A District Club may, by written notice to the Company Secretary left at or sent to the registered 
office, require that all notices to be given by the Company or the Directors be served on the 
District Club's attorney at an address specified in the notice. 

 

54.4Notice to a District Club whose address for service of notices is outside Australia must be sent 
by airmail, fax or electronic mail. 

 

54.5Where a notice is sent by post, service of the notice is taken to be effected by properly 
addressing, prepaying and posting a letter enclosing the notice and to have been effected: 

 

(1) in the case of a notice of a meeting, on the second business day after the date of its posting; and 
 

(2) in any other case, at the time at which the letter would be delivered in the ordinary course of 
post. 

 

54.6Where a notice is sent by fax or electronic transmission, service of the notice is taken to be effected 
by properly addressing and sending or transmitting the notice and to have been effected on the day 
it is sent. 

 

55 Notices for General Meetings 
 

55.1 Notice of every General Meeting must be given: 
 

(1) in the manner as required by Rules 17 and 18; 
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(2) to every District Club and to each Director; and 
 

(3) in the event that the General Meeting is the Annual General Meeting, to the auditor of the 
Company (if any). 

 

55.2No other person is entitled to receive notice of General Meetings, but notice may be given to other 
persons at the direction of the District Governor. 

 

56 Dispute Resolution 
 

56.1If a dispute arises between any of the Company, the Directors, District Clubs, District Rotarians 
or District Rotaractors as to any matter touching on the operation of the Company, 
administration of District 9620, administration of a District Club, membership of District 9620 or a 
District Club, the Constitutional Documents or any other matter relating to Rotary International, 
then: 

 

(1) the parties must act in good faith to attempt to resolve the dispute; 
 

(2) the District Governor shall be entitled to intervene to attempt to mediate a resolution; 
 

(3) if the District Governor is a direct party to the dispute, the immediate Past District Governor shall 
similarly be entitled to intervene; 

 

(4) if the Constitutional Documents provide a method of dispute resolution, any party may require 
this to apply; 

 

(5) failing resolution, whether or not Rule 56.1(4) applies, any party may require the matter to be 
referred to formal mediation, with the mediator to be nominated by the Queensland Chapter of 
the Resolution Institute or its successor, to be conducted in accordance with the rules of that 
body with the cost shared equally between the parties to the dispute; and 

 

(6) no party shall commence any form of Court proceedings, save for urgent interlocutory relief, until 
they have made a bona fide attempt to resolve the dispute and have genuinely engaged in 

mediation under Rule 56.1(5). 
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Corporations Act 2001 

Company limited by guarantee and not having a share capital 

Constitution of 

Rotary International District 9620  Limited 

Introduction 

1. General 

1.1 Definitions 

(1) In this Constitution, unless the contrary intention appears:Act means the Corporations Act 
2001 and includes any amendment or re-enactment of it or any legislation passed in 
substitution for it; 

(2) Annual General Meeting means the annual meeting of the members of the Company 
required to be held each year under the Act and this Constitution; 

(3) Assistant Governors are appointed by the District Governor-elect with responsibilities as 
detailed in the District Policy Documents. 

(4) Board of Directors or Board means collectively the Directors of the Company so described 
in this Constitution; 

(5) Constitutional Documents means the Rotary International Constitution, the Rotary 
International By-Laws, the Standard Rotary Club Constitution, the Rotary Code of Policies 
and the Rotary International Manual of Procedure as amended from time to time; 

(6) Committee means a body established in accordance with Rule 51 to assist in the 
administration of the affairs of District 9620; 

(7) Company means Rotary International District 9620 Limited.  

(8) Corporation means any body corporate whether incorporated in the Commonwealth of 
Australia or elsewhere; 

(9) Director means a Director of the Company and includes all members of the Board; 

(10) District means a geographical area in which Rotary Clubs are grouped for Rotary 
International administrative purposes, pursuant to the Constitutional Documents; 

(11) District Club means a Rotary or Rotaract Club that is chartered by Rotary International 
within the  locality of  District 9620 ; 

(12) District Financial Club means any club as defined under rule 1(11) except for those 
excluded by Rule 28.10 

(13) District Governor means the Officer of Rotary International duly elected pursuant to the 
Constitutional Documents to the Office of Governor of District 9620.  

(14) District Governor-elect means the person who, pursuant to the Constitutional Documents, 
has been appointed to serve as Governor of District 9620 in the next Rotary Year  
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(15) District Governor-nominee means the person who, pursuant to the Constitutional 
Documents, has been appointed to serve as District Governor-elect of District 9620 in the 
year following that when the District Governor Elect is elected to serve.  

(16) District Governor Nominee Designate means the person who, pursuant to the 
Constitutional documents, has been appointed to serve in the role of the District Governor 
Nominee when the current incumbent (District Governor Nominee) moves to the role of 
District Governor Elect 

(17) District Governor’s Year means the Rotary Year in which a District Rotarian serves as 
District Governor; 

(18) District Rotarian/Rotaractor means a Rotarian or Rotaractor  (other than an honorary 
member) in good standing of a District Rotary/Rotaract  Club and includes one period per 
year of seven days of non membership if that person is changing clubs; 

(19) District 9620 means the geographical area promulgated by the President of Rotary 
International from time to time. It includes the  former Rotary International Districts 9600 and 
9630.  

(20) Elector means the District Rotarian(s)/Rotaractor(s) duly authorised to cast a vote or votes 
on behalf of their  District Club at a General Meeting of the Company and in the case of any 
General Meeting of the nature referred to in Rule 25 hereof; 

(21) General Meeting means any meeting of the District Clubs at any time, which may be but is 
not limited to meetings known as: 

(a) District Conference 

(b) District Resolutions Meeting 

(c) District Training Assembly 

 

(22) Immediate Past District Governor means:  

(a) the person who, pursuant to the Constitutional Documents, served as the District 
Governor of District 9620 in the Rotary Year immediately preceding a current Rotary 
Year; 

(b) in the Restructure Year only, the Immediate Past District Governors of the Company 
shall be the persons who served in the Rotary Year immediately preceding the 
Restructure Year as the District Governors for Districts 9600 and 9630 respectively.  

(23) Member means a District Rotary or Rotaract Club and where the context permits (and is 
appropriate in the reasonable opinion of the Board), a Provisional District Club; 

(24) Month means a calendar month; 

(25) Notice includes any communication in writing, email or as otherwise approved by the Board 
or members; 

(26) Objects of the Company means the objects of the Company set out in Rule 5.1; 

(27) Officer of the Company has the meaning set out in the Act; 
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(28) Prescribed Rate means the base rate charged by the Company's principal banker to 
corporate customers from time to time in respect of overdraft loans in excess of one hundred 
thousand dollars ($100,000.00) calculated on a daily basis and a year comprised of 365 
days; 

(29) Provisional District Club means a Rotary/Rotaract Club that is in formation,  has not yet 
chartered but does have written recognition from the District Governor  that it is in the 
formation stage 

(30) Provisional District Rotarian/Rotaractor means a Rotarian or Rotaractor who is a member 
of a Provisional District Club; 

(31) Register means the register of District Clubs kept pursuant to Rule 12.5 and the Act;  

(32) Restructure means the formal implementation of changes to the legal identity and 
geographical area of Rotary International Districts 9600 and 9630 and that was approved by 
the Board of Rotary International to incorporate those Districts to form  District 9620; 

(33) Restructure Year means the Rotary Year commencing on 1 July 2021. 

(34) Rotarian/Rotaractor means a person who is a member (other than an honorary member) in 
good standing of a Rotary or Rotaract Club;  

(35) Rotary Club/Rotaract Club  means a body of Rotarians/Rotaractors which: 

(a) has been admitted to membership of Rotary International; and 

(b) is functioning and remains a member in good standing of Rotary International;  

(36) Rotary International means the association of Rotary Clubs throughout the world known as 
Rotary International registered in the United States of America under the Illinois general Not 
for Profit Corporation Act of 1996; 

(37) Rotary International By-Laws means the by-laws adopted by Rotary International as 
amended from time to time;  

(38) Rotary International Constitution means the Constitution adopted by Rotary International 
as amended from time to time; 

(39) Rotary International Manual of Procedure means the compilation of statements of policies 
and procedures adopted by Conventions, the Council on Legislation, the Rotary International 
Board of Directors and the Trustees of the Rotary Foundation of Rotary International, which 
also incorporates the other Constitutional Documents and other legal documents; 

(40) Rotary Year means the year ending 30 June; 

(41) Rules means the provisions of this Constitution as amended from time to time and a 
reference to a provision of these Rules is a reference to that provision as amended from time 
to time; 

(42) Seal means the Common Seal (if any) of District 9620; 

(43) Policy Documents means the  Policy Documents  for the management of the District 
adopted by the Board  and as amended from time to time, 
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(44) District Rotaract Representative means the person who has been recorded with Rotary 
International with the approval of the District Governor or District Governor Elect. 

1.2 Subject to Rule 2, unless the context otherwise requires: 

(1) Terms or expressions defined or in common use in the Constitutional Documents have a 
similar meaning in these Rules. 

(2) Subject to the requirements of the Act, where any such term or expression defined, used or 
incorporated by reference in these Rules, or its meaning is varied or changed in accordance 
with the requirements of the Constitutional Documents from time to time, then these Rules 
shall be construed as if they have been similarly varied or changed.  

1.3 Interpretation 

(1) Where the context permits, the word District in this document will for all relevant purposes 
mean District 9620 

(2) Reference to: 

(a) one gender includes the others; 

(b) the singular includes the plural and the plural includes the singular; and 

(c) a person includes a body corporate. 

(3) Except so far as the contrary intention appears in this Constitution: 

(a) an expression in this Constitution has the same meaning as in the Act; and 

(b) if an expression is given different meanings for the purposes of different provisions of 
the Act, the expression has, in a provision of this Constitution that deals with a matter 
dealt with by a particular provision of the Act, the same meaning as in that provision 
of the Act. 

(4) “Including” and similar expressions are not words of limitation. 

(5) Headings and any table of contents or index are for convenience only and do not form part of 
this Constitution or affect its interpretation. 

(6) All references to money are taken to be in Australian Dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

(7) “In writing” and “written” includes all modes of reproducing or representing words in a visible 
form including all electronic means.  

2. Inconsistency 

2.1 To the extent that there is any inconsistency between a provision in any of the documents referred to 
in Rule 2.1(2) and other provisions in any of them or between a provision in any of those documents 
and a provision in any other document referred to in any of them: 

(1) a specific provision takes precedence over a general provision; and 

(2) otherwise, to the extent necessary to resolve the inconsistency but subject always to the 
requirements of the Act, the following order of precedence applies: 
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(a) the Rotary International Constitution;  

(b) the Rotary International By-laws; 

(c) the Rotary International Manual of Procedure; 

(d) the Rotary Code of Policies; and 

(e) these Rules . 

3. Replaceable Rules 

3.1 The replaceable rules contained in the Act do not apply to the Company. 

4. Actions authorised under the Act and compliance with the Act 

4.1  Where the Act authorises or permits a Company to do any matter or thing if so authorised by its 
constitution, the Company is and will be taken by this Rule to be authorised and permitted to do that 
matter or thing, provided it complies with Rule 5, despite any other provisions of this Constitution. 

5. Objects 

5.1 The Objects of the Company are: 

(1) To further the Object of Rotary as enacted by Rotary International by: 

(a) providing leadership and supervision of the District Clubs;  

(b) helping the individual District Clubs advance the Object of Rotary; 

(c) owning, leasing or otherwise holding assets or an interest in assets for the benefit of 
the District and/or one or more District Clubs, as the Board determines in its sole 
discretion from time to time, including for example but without limitation, plant and 
equipment and real property; and 

(d) holding, maintaining and utilizing cash or other financial reserves or provisions for the 
benefit of the District and/or one or more District Clubs, as the Board determines in its 
sole discretion from time to time; 

(2) to encourage, promote, extend and support District Clubs and to co-ordinate their activities; 

(3) to assist the District Governor in coordinating the activities of District Clubs and in the 
performance of their  duties and responsibilities under the Constitutional Documents, these 
Rules, the District Policies and the District Strategic Plan; 

(4) to ensure continuity within  District 9620 by working with the past, current and incoming 
District leaders in fostering effective District Clubs; 

(5) to assemble and disseminate information and knowledge about matters affecting Rotary 
International, District 9620, the Rotary Foundation of Rotary International and District Clubs 
to District Rotarians/Rotaractors and the public; 

(6) to work with the District Clubs and their leaders to encourage participation in the District 
Strategic Plan(s); 

(7) to provide inspiration and motivation to the District Clubs; 
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(8) to promote, demonstrate, advance and encourage interest and participation in the 
administration, meetings, happenings and events involving  District Clubs and District 
Rotarians and Rotaractors; 

(9) to co-operate with any Government or private body in fostering the Objects of the Company 
and Rotary International; 

(10) not to diminish the services provided by District Clubs and District Rotarians/Rotaractors on a 
local level; 

(11) to raise funds, undertake projects and receive donations or grants in the furtherance of its 
Objects; 

(12) to expend all monies and funds raised or received for the furtherance of its Objects;  

(13) not to conduct the Company activities for the direct or indirect profit or gain for its Members;  

(14) generally to do all things which in the opinion of the Board of Directors are incidental or 
conducive to the attainment of the above Objects or any of them; and 

(15) upon  1 July 2021  to absorb the assets and liabilities of District 9600 and 9630 and to 
change the Company name to Rotary International District 9620 Limited. 

5.2  Nothing in this Rule 5 will be construed to limit the manner in which the Company may exercise its 
powers to pursue the Objects stated in Rule 5.1. 

5.3 The Company can only exercise its powers under the Act to:   

(1) carry out the Objects in Rule 5.1; and 

(2) do all things incidental or convenient in relation to the exercise of power under Rule 5.1. 

5.4 When interpreting the Objects in Rule 5.1, each Object may be construed jointly or separately and 
independently of any other Objects, as the case requires. 

6. Rotary International 

6.1 This Company has been formed with the express approval of Rotary International and its operation 
is subject to the continued approval by Rotary International. If the approval of Rotary International is 
withdrawn this Company must wind itself up or cease all association with Rotary International as well 
as change its name so it no longer refers to Rotary or Rotary International. 

Income and Property 

7. Application of income and property 

7.1 The Company may only act as a non-profit and non-share capital corporation. 

7.2 Subject to Rules 7.3 and 7.4, income and property of the Company must be applied solely towards 
the promotion of the Objects of the Company set out in Rule 5 and no portion of it may be paid or 
transferred, directly or indirectly, to any District Club, Rotarian, Rotaractor, Director or other Officer 
of the Company whether by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise. 

7.3 Nothing in Rules 7.1 or 7.2 prevents any payment in good faith by the Company of: 
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(1) reasonable and proper remuneration to any District Club,  District Rotarian or District 
Rotaractor for any services rendered or goods supplied in the ordinary and usual course of 
business to the Company; 

(2) payment of allowances and payment or reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses incurred 
by a District Club,  District Rotarian or District Rotaractor on behalf of the Company where 
the amount payable does not exceed an amount previously approved by the Directors or 
where the incurring of the expense is ratified by the Directors; 

(3) moneys to a District Rotarian or District Rotaractor, being a person engaged in any 
profession or business, for all usual professional or other charges for work done by that 
person or that person's firm or employer, where the provision of the service has the prior 
approval of the Directors and where the amount payable is approved by the Directors and is 
not more than an amount which commercially would be reasonable payment for the service; 
or 

(4) interest at a rate not exceeding the Prescribed Rate on money borrowed from a District Club. 

7.4 The Company must not pay fees to Directors, however the Company may make payments in good 
faith for: 

(1) the payment or reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses (either directly or by prior approved 
allowance) incurred by a Director in the performance of the Director's duties to the Company 
where the amount payable does not exceed an amount previously approved by the Directors 
or where the Directors ratify the incurring of the expense; 

(2) moneys owing to any Director, being a person engaged in any profession or business, for all 
usual professional or other charges for work done by that person or that person's firm or 
employer where the provision of the service has the prior approval of the Directors and where 
the amount payable is approved by the Directors and is not more than an amount which 
commercially would be reasonable payment for the service; 

(3) an insurance premium in respect of a contract ensuring a Director to which subsection 212(1) 
of the Act refers or the provision of a financial benefit to a Director which would be permitted 
by the Act were the Company a public company; and 

(4) any other payment or allowance to any Director approved for good cause in furtherance of 
the Objects of the Company approved by the other Directors. 

7.5 Nothing in these Rules prevents the District Governor or other Officer of the Company from receiving 
and retaining any moneys paid or allowed to them by Rotary International in the course of their 
service to Rotary International. 

8. Administration and District Policies 

8.1 The Company will be managed by or under the direction of a Board of Directors. 

8.2 The Board of Directors shall comprise not less than 6 nor more than 9 District Rotarians or 
Rotaractors and the Board will be responsible for the  administration of the Company. 

8.3 The District Rotarians holding the positions of:  

(1) District Governor; 

(2)  Immediate Past District Governor who served in District 9620; 
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(a) in the Restructure Year only, each Immediate Past District Governor who served as 
the District Governor for District 9600 and District 9630; 

(3)  District Governor-elect; 

(4) District Governor-nominee; 

(5) Company Secretary 

(6) District Administrator  

(7) Finance Director 

 

in each Rotary Year shall always be members of the Board of Directors and Officers of the 
Company. 

8.4 The District Governor-elect must within a reasonable time preceding their District Governor’s year 
give notice in writing to the District Administrator and Company Secretary of the full names, 
addresses and other relevant particulars of the District Rotarians who are to serve as members of 
the Board of Directors in the next Rotary year.  

8.5 In accordance with Rotary International Code of policy the District Governor shall report annually to 
the Clubs on the state of the District incorporation. 

8.6 A new Board of Directors (constituted as provided in this Rule) shall take office at the 
commencement of each Rotary year. 

8.7 The Board may make, amend or repeal District Policies, consistent with this Constitution for the 
good order, business conduct and management of the Company. 

8.8 The Board shall notify District Clubs of any changes to the District Policies. 

8.9 A District Policy may be set aside or amended at a General Meeting. 

 

9. District Governor Role and Selection of the District Governor Nominee Designate 

9.1 The District Governor is: 

(1) the officer of Rotary International in the District functioning under the general control and 
supervision of the Board of Rotary International; 

(2) charged by Rotary International with the duty of furthering the Object of Rotary by providing 
leadership and supervision of the District Clubs; and 

(3) the highest-ranking Officer of the Company. 

9.2 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Act:  

(1) the District Governor is the Chair of the Company; and 

(2) where the word “Chair” is used, it refers to the District Governor except with respect to The 
District Nominating Committee 
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9.3 The powers, duties and obligations of the District Governor are as set out in the Constitutional 
Documents and may also be contained in the District Policies and the District Leadership Plan. 

9.4 The District Governor will appoint and, at their discretion delegate functions of the management of 
the Company to, Assistant Governors and Committees. 

9.5 Despite Rules 9.1, 9.2, 9.3 and 9.4, the powers of the Chair do not include the powers of the Board 
that must be exercised by the Board. The Board shall not divest its future exercise of discretions 
whether conferred by the Act or this Constitution. 

9.6 The District Governor Nominee Designate shall be appointed by the District Nominating Committee. 

9.7 The District Nominating Committee for that purpose shall comprise: 

(a) Category 1 - The District Governor;  

(b) Category 2 - The District Governor-elect; 

(c) Category 3 - The District Governor-nominee 

(d) Category 4 – A Past District Governor determined by a majority decision of the Board, 
who shall chair the nominating committee. They will have served as a Past District 
Governor in District 9620, 9630 or 9600 during the five years prior to the 
establishment of the nomination committee.  

(e) Category 5 - One District Rotarian/Rotaractor determined by a majority decision of the 
committee members from Categories 1,2,3, and 4. They will have held the office of 
Assistant Governor, District Rotaract Representative or have served as Chair of one 
of the District Committees in District 9620, 9630 or 9600 for a full term during the five 
years prior to the establishment of the nominating committee.  

(f) Category 6 - Two District Rotarians/ Rotaractors determined by a majority decision of 
the committee members from Categories 1,2,3 and 4. They will have held office for a 
full term as President of a District Club in District 9620, 9630 or 9600 during the five 
years prior to the establishment of the nominating committee.  

No more than one person on the nominating committee can be from any one club nor be 
from the club of an applicant.  

In instances where a person is on the nominating committee and is excluded under this 
provision their replacement will be selected by the Board of the Company. 

 

9.8 The composition of the Nominating Committee must be finalized before 15 December. 

Nominations for the position of District Governor Nominee will be called no later than 31 December. 

Applications for the position of District Governor Nominee will close on 20 February. 

Selection of the District Governor Nominee will be announced no later than the 15 May. 

10. Other Officers 
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10.1 A District Rotarian/Rotaractor will, in accordance with the Act, be appointed by the Board of 
Directors to the position of Company Secretary upon such conditions as the Board may think fit and 
any person so appointed may be removed by the Board. 

10.2 The Board of Directors may appoint an Acting Secretary as temporary substitute for the Company 
Secretary. Whilst exercising such office, the Acting Secretary will be deemed to be the Company 
Secretary for the purpose of this Constitution. 

10.3 A District Rotarian/ Rotaractor will, in accordance with the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936, be 
appointed by the Board to the position of Public Officer of the Company upon such conditions as the 
Board may think fit and any person so appointed may be removed by the Board. 

10.4 Except as provided for in Rules 10.1, 10.2 and 10.3, the Board of Directors may from time to time: 

(1) create any position or positions in the Company conferred with any powers or responsibilities 
as the District Governor may from time to time determine; and 

(2) appoint any person, whether or not a Director, to any position or positions created under Rule 
10.4(1). 

10.5 The District Governor may at any time terminate the appointment of a person holding a position 
created under Rule 10.4 and may abolish the position if lawfully permitted to do so. 

10.6 Each Officer of the Company and any person appointed under Rule 10.1, 10.2, 10.3 and 10.4(2) 
must be a District Rotarian/Rotaractor. 

11. Liability 

11.1 The liability of the Members is limited. 

11.2 Each Member undertakes to contribute to the property of the Company if the Company is wound up 
while it is a member or within 1 year after it ceases to be a member, for payment of the Company's 
debts and liabilities contracted before it ceases to be a member and of the costs, charges and 
expenses of winding up and for the adjustment of the rights of the contributories among themselves, 
such amount as may be required, but not exceeding $10.00. 

12. Members 

12.1 The number of District Clubs with which the Company proposes to be registered or which shall be 
Members of the Company is not limited. 

12.2 The membership of the Company shall comprise and be strictly limited to chartered District Rotary 
and Rotaract Clubs.   

12.3 A District Club  may consent to become a member of the Company and have its membership 
entered on the Register once that District Club provides evidence satisfactory to the Company that: 

(1) Rotary International has granted to that District Club a Certificate of Membership in Rotary 
International; and 

(2) It has paid any applicable membership fee to the Company. 

12.4 The admission to or removal from membership of Rotary International of a District Club immediately 
and automatically results in a corresponding change in the Membership of the Company. 
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12.5 The Company Secretary must cause a Register to be kept in accordance with the Act in which will 
be entered the names and addresses of all District Clubs admitted to membership of the Company 
and the date of admission. 

 

13. Membership fee and annual subscription 

13.1 Fees and subscriptions will be established through the process of budget estimates for the 
succeeding Rotary Year, such estimates being prepared by the District Governor-elect for their 
District Governor’s Year in consultation with the District Finance Committee, notice of which must be 
provided to District Clubs at least 28 days prior to the General Meeting at which that budget is to be 
considered and approved or amended. Voting can be undertaken at a general meeting in person, 
on-line or by post  

13.2 The District 9620 budget shall be financed by the District Clubs by way of a per capita levy on the 
members of those clubs. The amount of the levy shall be decided in accordance with the relevant 
provisions of the Rotary International By-Laws in force from time to time.  

13.3 The per capita levy is mandatory on all District Clubs. The invoice will be distributed twice per year 
and the number of members per Club will be as recorded on Rotary.org on January 1 and July 1 of 
each year. 

14. Winding Up 

14.1 The Company must immediately and automatically cease operations and must be wound up in 
accordance with the Act after the following has occurred: - 

(1) the directive of the Rotary International Board; or 

(2) the approval of two-thirds of the District Clubs in a vote at the General Meeting to be held at 
the District Conference, at any other Special General Meeting convened under the Act or in a 
ballot-by-mail. 

14.2 The District Governor must give the Rotary International Board: 

(1) notice of any decision by the District Clubs to wind up the Company; and 

(2) a final report upon the completion of the process of winding up the Company. 

14.3 If, upon the winding-up or dissolution of the Company in accordance with the Act there remains, 
after satisfaction of all its debts and liabilities, any property of any kind (surplus) then that surplus 
must not be paid to, or distributed among the District Clubs, but must be given or transferred to 
some other organisation(s) or institution(s) having objects similar to the Objects of the Company 
which continue(s) to perform the Company’s activities in respect to the District Clubs (for example 
some other Rotary District(s)), or if there is no such entity, one or more organisations or institutions 
with objects similar to those of the Company provided the relevant organisation or institution has a 
memorandum of association or constitution which prohibits distribution of its or their income and 
property among its members to an extent at least as great as is imposed on the Company under 
Rule 7.2 of this Constitution, any organisation(s) or institution(s) to be determined by the District 
Clubs at or before the time of dissolution, and in default of any such determination by application to 
the Supreme Court of Queensland for determination. 

15. Indemnity 
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15.1 To the extent permitted by the Act and without limiting the powers of the Company, the Company 
must indemnify and indemnifies each person who is, or has been, an Officer of the Company against 
any liability which results directly or indirectly from facts or circumstances relating to the person 
serving or having served in that capacity in relation to the Company: 

(1) whether or not the liability arises from a prior contingent liability, and provided that the liability 
does not arise out of conduct involving a lack of good faith or conduct known to the person to 
be wrongful; and 

(2) for costs and expenses incurred by the person in defending proceedings, whether civil or 
criminal, in which judgment is given in favour of the person or in which the person is 
acquitted, or in connection with any application in relation to proceedings in which the court 
grants relief to the person under the Act. 

15.2 The Company need not indemnify a person as provided for in Rule 15.1 in respect of a liability to the 
extent that the person is entitled to an indemnity in respect of that liability under a contract of 
insurance.  

15.3 To the extent permitted by the Act and without limiting the powers of the Company, the Directors 
may authorise the Company to, and the Company may enter into any: 

(1) documentary indemnity in favour of; or 

(2) insurance policy for the benefit of, a person who is, or has been, an employee or Officer of 
the Company, which indemnity or insurance policy may be in such terms as the Directors 
approve and, in particular, may apply to acts or omissions prior to or after the time of entering 
into the indemnity or policy. 

15.4 The benefits of each indemnity given in Rule 15.1 continues, even after its terms or the terms of this 
Rule 15are modified or deleted, in respect of a liability arising out of acts or omissions occurring prior 
to the modification or deletion. 

16. Common Seal 

16.1 The Company may have a common seal. If the Company has a common seal it may also have a 
duplicate common seal. 

16.2 A seal may only be used on a resolution of the Board. Every document to which the seal is affixed 
must be signed by the District Governor (or in their absence, the immediate Past District Governor) 
and the District Finance Director (or in their absence, one other Director). 

16.3 This Rule 16 does not limit the ways in which the Company may execute a document. 

16.4 This Rule 16 does not otherwise limit the ways in which the Company may execute a document 
provided always that any deed or other document intended to bind the Company to a contractual or 
similar legal obligation or pursuant to which the Company will incur an indebtedness in excess of 
$10,000.00 must be signed in the same manner as Rule 16.2. 

17. Convening meetings 

17.1 The Company must, in each Rotary Year, hold:  

(1) an Annual General Meeting; and 
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(2) General Meetings convened in accordance with these Rules or the Act including any such 
meeting that may be held in conjunction with the District Training Assembly and the District 
Conference. 

17.2 The District Governor may determine the date, time and place of those meetings in their District 
Governor’s Year but the Annual General Meeting must be held at least once in each calendar year 
and within 5 months of the end of each Rotary Year unless the Australian Securities and Investment 
Commission approves otherwise. 

17.3 The notice convening the Annual General Meeting must be given at least 21 days in advance of the 
Annual General Meeting and specify that the meeting is an Annual General Meeting. The ordinary 
business to be conducted at the Annual General Meeting is: 

(1) the consideration of the annual financial report, Directors' report and auditor's report;  

(2) the confirmation in office of the Board of Directors selected in accordance with these Rules 
(as the case requires) for the current and/or next Rotary Year; 

(3) the status of the Company’s incorporation. 

17.4 The District Governor or any three Directors may convene a General Meeting whenever the District 
Governor or those Directors think fit by giving at least 21 days’ notice, provided that those same 
Directors may not convene more than one extraordinary general meeting in any six (6) month 
period. 

17.5 The Directors who convene a general meeting under Rule 17.4 may, with the agreement of the 
District Governor, cancel that meeting by notice in writing to all District Clubs, but no meeting 
convened on the requisition of District Clubs may be cancelled without the consent of each 
convening District Club. 

17.6 The District Governor may postpone a General Meeting or change the place at which it is to be held 
by notice not later than 72 hours prior to the time of the meeting to all persons to whom the notice of 
meeting (the first notice) was given. The postponing notice must specify the place, date and time of 
the further meeting. The meeting is taken to be duly convened under the first notice. 

17.7 The District Governor must, on request in writing of the District Clubs representing not less than 10% 
of the total number of District Clubs convene a General Meeting of the Company; 

17.8 A request by District Clubs for a General Meeting pursuant to Rule 17.7 must:  

(1) be in writing and state the objects of the meeting; 

(2) be signed by the Presidents of the District Clubs requesting the meeting; and 

(3) be sent to the registered office of the Company and the District Governor. 

17.9 If the District Governor does not cause a General Meeting to be held within 1 month after the date 
on which the request is sent to the registered office of the Company, the District Clubs which make a 
request under Rule 17.7 may request the Company Secretary to convene a General Meeting to be 
held not later than 3 months after that date and the Company Secretary must then convene a 
General Meeting. 

17.10 If a General Meeting is convened by District Clubs in accordance with Rule 17.7, it must be 
convened in the same manner so far as possible as a meeting convened under Rule 17.4. 
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18. Notice of General Meetings 

18.1 Each notice convening a General Meeting must contain the information required by the Act. 

18.2 The non-receipt of a notice convening a General Meeting by, or the accidental omission to give 
notice to, any person entitled to receive notice does not invalidate the proceedings at or any 
resolution passed at the meeting. 

19. Telephonic and electronic/direct voting 

19.1 A District Club may request to have its Elector(s) present at a General Meeting by teleconference or 
electronic means. If a majority of Directors consent to Elector(s) being present at that meeting by 
teleconference or other electronic means, the Directors must (subject to appropriate facilities being 
available) use their best endeavours to facilitate the attendance of those Electors at the meeting. An 
Elector present via teleconference or electronic means will be responsible for making the connection 
to the meeting and an Elector present must be permitted to vote by indicating whether they vote for 
or against a resolution. 

19.2 An Elector present via electronic means at the meeting is deemed to be present at the meeting. 

19.3 In addition to voting by Elector(s) indicating whether they vote for or against a resolution in a 
permitted meeting, the Directors may determine that at any General Meeting, Elector(s) who are 
entitled to attend that meeting are entitled to a direct vote without physically attending the General 
Meeting. A “direct vote” includes a vote delivered to the Company Secretary of the Company by 
post,, email or other electronic means approved by the Directors from time to time. The Directors 
may from time to time, specify the form, method and timing of giving a direct vote at a General 
Meeting in order for the vote to be valid. 

20. Business of General Meetings 

20.1 Unless the Electors present agree by majority otherwise, business must not be transacted at any 
General Meeting except as set out in the notice of meeting. 

21. Quorum 

21.1 Business must not be transacted at a General Meeting unless there is a quorum of Electors present 
at the time when the meeting proceeds to business. 

21.2 Except as otherwise provided in this Constitution, at least one half of the total number of District 
Financial Clubs of the Company present by their Electors or proxy constitutes a quorum. 

21.3 At any General Meeting dealing with the matters referred to in Rule 25.3, the quorum will be at least 
one half of the total number of District Financial Clubs of the Company present by their Electors or 
proxy  

22. If quorum not present 

22.1 If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time appointed for the meeting: 

(1) where the meeting is convened on the requisition of District Clubs, the proposed meeting is 
automatically dissolved (subject to Rule 24.1); 

(2) in any other case: 
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(a) the meeting stands adjourned to a day and at a time and place as the Directors 
decide or, if no decision is made by the Directors, to the same day in the next week at 
the same time and place (“the adjourned meeting”); and 

(b) if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is not present within 20 minutes after the time 
appointed for the meeting, the meeting is automatically dissolved. 

23. Chair of meetings 

23.1 At every General Meeting: 

(1) the District Governor, or in the District Governor's absence;  

(2) the District Governor-elect, or in the District Governor-elect's absence; 

(3) a Director as chosen by Directors present at the meeting, or in the absence of all Directors; 

(4) an Elector of a District Club as elected by District Clubs' Electors present at the meeting; 

is to preside as Chair. 

24. Adjournments 

24.1 The Chair may and must if so directed by the meeting, adjourn the meeting from time to time and 
from place to place. 

24.2 The only business, which may be transacted at any adjourned meeting, is the business left 
unfinished at the meeting from which the adjournment took place. 

24.3 When a meeting is adjourned for 30 days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting must be given as 
in the case of an original meeting. 

24.4 Except as provided by Rule 24.3, it is not necessary to give any notice of an adjournment or of the 
business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting. 

25. Voting at General Meetings 

25.1 The provisions of the Rotary International By-Laws from time to time which determine (in respect of 
each District Club) such things as: 

(1) the selection, certification and sending of Electors; 

(2) the number of Electors and votes to which each such District Club is entitled; and 

(3) how those Electors must cast such votes, 

at any District Conference or District Resolutions Meeting (if one is held separately) (“the meeting 
rules”) shall, with all necessary amendments, apply to any General Meeting of the Company and this 
Constitution shall be read subject to and applied consistently with the meeting rules.  

25.2 Subject to Rules 19, any resolution to be considered at a General Meeting is to be decided on a 
show of hands of the Electors in attendance.  For the avoidance of doubt, a proxy appointed under 
Rule 30 or an attorney appointed under Rule 32 may vote on a show of hands if authorised to be 
present and to vote under this Constitution. 
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25.3 Unless as an Elector, a District Rotarian/Rotaractor may not vote but can be heard at a General 
Meeting on matters submitted to a vote in respect of: 

(1) the selection of a District Governor Nominee Designate; 

(2) election of a member and alternate member of the nominating committee for director;  

(3) composition and terms of reference of the nominating committee for District Governor; 

(4) election of the representative and alternate representative of District 9620 to the Council on 
Legislation; and 

(5) the amount of the per capita levy. 

25.4 A declaration by the Chair that a resolution has on a show of hands been carried or lost and an entry 
to that effect in the minutes of the meeting are conclusive evidence of the fact without the need to 
show the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favour of or against the resolution. 

25.5 District Clubs have the right to demand a poll upon any resolution presented to a General Meeting in 
accordance with the Act. 

25.6 District Clubs have the right to demand and the Chair has the right to require that any resolution 
presented to a General Meeting is to be decided by secret ballot. 

26. Procedure for polls and secret ballot 

26.1 A poll or secret ballot must be taken in the manner and at the time as determined by the Chair. 

26.2 The result of the poll or secret ballot is a resolution of the meeting at which the poll or secret ballot 
took place. 

26.3 If a poll or secret ballot has been demanded or is required at a meeting, the meeting may continue 
with the transaction of business other than the resolution on which the poll or secret ballot was 
demanded or required. 

27. Chair's casting vote 

27.1 In the case of an equality of votes on a show of hands or on a poll the Chair will have a casting vote. 

28. Representation and voting of District Clubs 

28.1 A District Club may only vote at a General Meeting of the Company by its Elector or if no Elector is 
able to attend, a duly appointed proxy or attorney 

28.2 On each matter submitted to a vote to which this Rule 28 applies at any General Meeting, each 
District Club must vote in accordance with the meeting rules referred to in Rule 25.1. 

28.3 The Elector(s) of a District Club at a General Meeting of the Company is or are: 

(1) its President if present at any General Meeting of the Company (except District Training 
Assembly); 

(2) its President Elect (or his or her duly authorised designated representative pursuant to the 
Constitutional Documents in the absence of the President Elect) at the District Training 
Assembly; or 
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(3) 1 or more District Rotarians who are members of and duly selected and certified by that 
District Club as its Elector(s) pursuant to the Constitutional Documents for the relevant 
meeting. 

28.4 A District Club must give formal written notice of appointment of: 

(1) the designated representative appointed under Rule 28.3 (2); and 

(2) its Elector(s) appointed under Rule 28.3 (3), 

in accordance with the meeting rules and comply with the provisions of Rule 28 as to notice to the 
Company but is not otherwise required to give such notice. 

28.5 If a District Club is entitled to vote at a General Meeting, its Elector must cast such vote in the 
manner required by the Constitutional Documents. 

28.6 An Elector, proxy or attorney appointed to attend and vote for a District Club at a General Meeting 
has the same rights as a District Club: 

(1) to be heard at the meeting; 

(2) to vote (but subject to any limitations imposed in the appointment, the meeting rules and 
these Rules); and 

(3) to demand a poll. 

28.7 Notice of the appointment of an Elector, may be given by formal notice of such appointment duly 
signed on behalf of the District Club by its President and its Secretary or by the Elector signing the 
attendance book maintained to record attendance at such meeting. 

28.8 The formal notice or, as the case requires, the attendance book must contain the following 
information: 

(1) the District Club’s name; 

(2) the Elector's name  and the name of the office held by the Elector; and  

(3) the meetings at which the appointment may be used. 

28.9 The following rules apply to such appointments: 

(1) an appointment may be a standing one and may authorise an Elector to vote at his or her 
discretion; 

(2) an undated appointment is taken to have been dated on the day it is given to the Company; 

(3) an appointment may specify the way the Elector is to vote on a particular resolution. If it 
does, the Elector must vote accordingly; 

(4) an appointment does not have to be witnessed; and 

(5) a later appointment revokes an earlier one if both appointments could not be validly 
exercised at the meeting. 

28.10 A District Club is not entitled to vote at a General Meeting unless all sums presently payable by the 
District Club in respect of membership of the Company and Rotary International have been paid in 
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full. This rule does not apply for debts of $300.00 or less and for such minor debts only, the Club will 
be eligible to vote. 

29. Objections to qualification to vote 

29.1 An objection to the qualification of a District Club to vote may be raised only at the meeting or 
adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is tendered. 

29.2 Any objection must be referred to the Chair, whose decision is final. 

29.3 A vote allowed after an objection is valid for all purposes. 

 

30. Proxies 

30.1 A District Club may designate a proxy for its absent Elector(s) at any General Meeting of the 
Company. 

30.2 The proxy must be a District Rotarian/Rotaractor and may be a member of the designating District 
Club. 

30.3 The proxy designation must be certified by the president and secretary of the relevant club. 

30.4 The proxy is entitled to vote as proxy for the non–attending Elector of a District Club.  

31. Form of proxy 

31.1 An instrument appointing a proxy must be in writing and signed by the president or secretary of the 
District Club on whose behalf the appointment is made. 

31.2 A proxy may vote as the proxy thinks fit on any motion or resolution in respect of which no manner of 
voting has been indicated to the proxy by the District Club appointing the proxy. 

31.3 An instrument appointing a proxy may be in any form that the Directors may accept or stipulate. 

32. Lodgement of powers of attorney and proxies 

32.1 For an instrument appointing an attorney to act on behalf of a District Club at all meetings of the 
Company (or at all meetings for a specified period) to be effective, the following documents must be 
received by the Company not less than 48 hours (or any shorter period as the Directors may permit) 
before the commencement of the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the attorney proposes to 
vote: 

(1) the power of attorney or a certified copy of that power of attorney; and 

(2) any evidence that the Directors may reasonably require of the validity and non-revocation of 
that power of attorney. 

32.2 For the purposes of Rule 32.1, the Company receives these documents when they are received at 
any of the following: 

(1) the Company's registered office; or 

(2) a place, or electronic address specified by the Company for the purpose in the notice of 
meeting. 
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32.3 For an instrument (other than a power of attorney) appointing an Elector or proxy of a District Club to 
be effective, it must be received by the Company (at the place, or electronic address specified by the 
Company for the purpose in the notice convening the meeting) not less than 48 hours (or any 
shorter period as the Directors may permit) before the commencement of the meeting or adjourned 
meeting at which the proxy proposes to vote. 

33. Validity of proxies 

33.1 A vote exercised in accordance with the terms of an instrument of proxy, a power of attorney or 
other relevant instrument of appointment is valid despite the revocation of the instrument (or of the 
authority under which the instrument was executed) or the power if no notice in writing of the 
revocation has been received by the Company at its registered office at least 48 hours (or any 
shorter period as the Directors may permit) before the commencement of the meeting, or adjourned 
meeting at which the instrument is used or the power is exercised. 

33.2 A proxy is not revoked by the principal attending and taking part in the meeting, unless the principal 
actually votes at the meeting on the resolution for which the proxy is proposed to be used. 

34. Where proxy is incomplete 

34.1 No instrument appointing a proxy is treated as invalid merely because it does not contain: 

(1) the address of the appointer or of a proxy; 

(2) the proxy's name or the name of the office held by the proxy; or 

(3) in relation to any or all resolutions, an indication of the manner in which the proxy is to vote. 

34.2 Where the instrument does not specify the name of a proxy, the instrument is taken to be given in 
favour of the chairman of the meeting. 

35. Rights of officers and advisers to attend General Meeting 

35.1 Any person (whether a District Club Elector or not) permitted by the Directors to attend any General 
Meeting is entitled to be present and, at the request of the Chair, to be heard at that General 
Meeting. 

36. Composition of the Board of Directors 

36.1 All Company Officers must be District Rotarians/Rotaractors. 

36.2 All members of the Board of Directors (other than the District Governor, the most recent Past District 
Governor, the District Governor-elect, the District Governor-nominee (who will always automatically 
be members of the Board of Directors) and the Company Secretary (who is to be selected by the 
Board of Directors as provided in Rule 10.1) are to be notified to the Company Secretary by the 
District Governor-elect as provided in Rule 8.5 to serve as Directors during his or her District 
Governor’s Year. 

36.3 A member of the Board of Directors may resign from the Board by giving written notice of resignation 
to the Company Secretary. 

36.4 The resignation takes effect on: 

(1) the day and at the time the notice is received by the Company Secretary; or 

(2) if a later day is stated in the notice – the later day. 
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37. Vacation of office 

37.1 In addition to the circumstances in which the office of a Director becomes vacant under the Act, the 
office of a Director becomes vacant if the Director: 

(1) becomes of unsound mind or becomes a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt 
with in any way under any legislation relating to mental health; 

(2) resigns by notice in writing to the Company;  

(3) ceases to be a District Rotarian/Rotaractor; 

(4) is absent for a continuous period of 6 months (without the consent of the other Directors) 
from meetings of Directors; or 

(5) dies. 

38. Powers of Directors 

38.1 Subject to the Act and Rule 9 of this Constitution, the business of the Company is managed by or 
under the direction of a Board of Directors, who may exercise all powers of the Company except 
those which are, by the Act or this Constitution, required to be exercised by the Company in General 
Meeting. 

38.2 Without limiting the generality of Rule 38.1, the Board of Directors may exercise all the powers of the 
Company: 

(1) to borrow money, to charge any property or business of the Company or all or any of the 
Company's uncalled capital; and 

(2) to issue debentures or give any other security for a debt, liability or obligation of the 
Company. 

39. Appointment of attorneys 

39.1 The Board of Directors may, by power of attorney, appoint any person to be the attorney of the 
Company for the purposes, and with the powers, authorities and discretions vested in or exercisable 
by the Board for any period and subject to any conditions as determined by the Directors. 

39.2 Any appointment under Rule 39.1 may be made on terms for the protection and convenience of 
persons dealing with the attorney as the Board of Directors thinks fit and may also authorise the 
attorney to delegate all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions vested in the attorney. 

40. Negotiable instruments 

40.1 All negotiable instruments of the Company must be executed by the persons and in the manner set 
out in Rule 16.4. 

41. Proceedings 

41.1 The Board of Directors is to meet together not less than once in each 2 calendar months for the 
dispatch of business and adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as the Board thinks fit. 

41.2 At any time, a Director with the approval of the District Governor or any three Directors without such 
approval, may request the Company Secretary to convene a meeting of the Directors and the 
Company Secretary must then convene a meeting of the Directors. 



 
  21 

 

41.3 Reasonable notice must be given to every Director of the place, date and time of every meeting of 
the Directors. Where any Director is for the time being outside of Australia, notice need only be 
given to that Director if contact details have been given. 

42. Meetings via technology 

42.1 For the purposes of the Act, each Director, on becoming a Director, consents to the use of the 
following technology for calling or holding meetings of Directors: 

(1) video conference;  

(2) telephone; 

(3) electronic mail; 

(4) any other technology that permits each Director to communicate with every other Director; or 

(5) any combination of the technologies described in the above paragraphs. 

42.2 Where the Directors are not personally all in attendance at one place and are holding a meeting 
using technology and each Director can communicate with the other Directors: 

(1) the participating Directors are, for the purpose of every provision of this Constitution 
concerning meetings of the Directors, taken to be assembled together at a meeting and to be 
present at that meeting; and 

(2) all proceedings of those Directors conducted in that manner are as valid and effective as if 
conducted at a meeting at which all of them were present. 

43. Quorum at meetings 

43.1 At a meeting of Directors, the number of Directors whose presence is necessary to constitute a 
quorum is at least one half of Directors entitled to vote. Unless the Directors determine otherwise, 
the quorum need only be present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business. 

44. Vacancies 

44.1 The Directors may act even in the event of a vacancy or vacancies in the office of a Director or 
offices of Directors, but if the number of Directors is not sufficient to constitute a quorum at a 
meeting of Directors, the Directors may act only to appoint a sufficient number of Directors to 
constitute a quorum. 

45. Proceedings at meetings 

45.1 The District Governor must be appointed Chair at a meeting of Directors. In their absence the 
provisions of Rules 23.1(1), (2) and (3) (with all necessary modifications) shall apply. 

45.2 Subject to this Constitution, questions arising at a meeting of Directors are decided by a majority of 
votes of Directors present and voting and for all purposes any such decision is taken to be a 
decision of the Directors. 

45.3 If there is an even number of votes, the Chair of the meeting will have a casting vote in addition to 
the Chair's deliberative vote. 

45.4 For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding that a Director may hold two Board positions or offices  
that Director is entitled to one deliberative vote only at meetings of the Board  
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46. Director's Interest 

46.1 Except where permitted by the Act a Director who has a material personal interest in a matter that is 
being considered at a meeting of Directors: 

(1) must not be counted in a quorum;  

(2) must not vote on the matter; and 

(3) must not be present while the matter is being considered at the meeting. 

46.2 If a Director who has a material personal interest in a matter that is being considered at a meeting of 
the Directors is not prohibited by the Act from being present at the meeting and voting, the Director 
may be present, be counted in the quorum and may be heard but may not vote on the matter. 

46.3 A Director who is in any way, whether directly or indirectly, interested in a contract or proposed 
contract with the Company must, as soon as practicable after the relevant facts have come to the 
Director’s knowledge, declare the nature of the interest at a meeting of the Directors or by written 
notice to the Company Secretary. 

46.4 A Director who holds any office or possesses any property by which, whether directly or indirectly, 
duties or interests might be created in conflict with his or her duties or interests as Director must 
declare at a meeting of the Directors of the Company or by written notice to the Company Secretary 
the fact and the nature, character and extent of the conflict. 

46.5 For the purposes of rules 46.3 and 46.4, a Director’s interest or any conflict must be disregarded if it 
arises from or relates solely to: 

(1) a guarantee to be given by the Director (or by persons including the Director or by a body 
corporate of which the Director is a member or officer) in respect of a loan to the Company; 
or 

(2) the position of the Director as a director of a related body corporate. 

46.6 If a Director has an interest in a contract or proposed contract with the Company (other than as a 
member), or a conflicting interest or duty in relation to any other matter being considered by the 
Directors, and the Director discloses the nature and extent of the interest or duty at a meeting of the 
Directors or by written notice to the Company Secretary:: 

(1) if the disclosure is made before the contract is entered into: 

(a) the Director may retain benefits under the contract even though the Director has an 
interest in the contract; 

(b) the Company cannot avoid the contract merely because of the existence of the 
interest; and 

(c) the Director is not disqualified from the office of Director. 

46.7 For the purposes of rule 46.6 contract includes an arrangement, dealing or other transaction. 

46.8 Without limiting rules 46.1 to 46.7, a Director may to the extent permitted by the Act: 

(1) hold any other office or place of profit under the Company (other than the office of auditor) in 
conjunction with the office of Director; 
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(2) be interested in any operation, undertaking or business undertaken or assisted by the 
Company or in which the Company is or may be interested. 

47. Alternate Directors 

47.1 A Director may not appoint an alternate Director. 

 

48. Committees 

48.1 The Board of Directors may, delegate any of its powers to a Committee or Committees consisting of 
such number of them and/or other District Rotarians/Rotaractors as they think fit. A Committee may 
consist of one or more but usually 3 persons. 

48.2 A Committee to which any powers have been so delegated must exercise the powers delegated in 
accordance with any directions of the Board of Directors. A power so exercised is taken to be 
exercised by the Board. 

48.3 Rules 39 (except as to the frequency of meetings), 40, 43, 44, 46 and 47 (with any necessary 
modifications) apply to any Committee as if each reference in those Rules to the Directors was a 
reference to the members of the Committee and each reference to a meeting of Directors was to a 
meeting of the Committee. 

48.4 The number of members whose presence at a meeting of the Committee is necessary to constitute 
a quorum is the number determined by the Board of Directors and, if not so determined, is 2. Unless 
the Board determines otherwise the quorum need only be present at the time when the meeting 
proceeds to business. 

48.5 The minutes of all the proceedings and decisions of every Committee must be made entered and 
signed in the same manner in all respects as minutes of proceedings of the Directors are required by 
the Act to be made, entered and signed. 

49. Written resolutions by Directors 

49.1 The Directors of the Company may pass a resolution without a directors’ meeting being held if a 
document containing the resolution: 

(1) is circulated to all those entitled to receive notice of a meeting to consider the resolution; 

(2) contains a statement that the signatories to it are in favour of that resolution;  

(3) sets out or identifies the terms of the resolution; and 

(4) has been signed by all of the Directors entitled to vote on that resolution. 

49.2 In the event requirements of Rule 50.1 are met a resolution in those terms shall be deemed to have 
been passed on the day on which and at the time at which the document was signed by the last of 
the Directors to so sign and the document has effect as a minute of the resolution. 

49.3 For the purposes of Rule 49.1: 

(1) two or more separate documents containing statements in identical terms, each of which is 
signed by one or more Directors, are together taken to constitute one document containing a 
statement in those terms signed by those Directors on the day on which and at the time at 
which the last of those documents to be signed was signed by the Director; and 
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(2) which is received by the Company or an agent of the Company and is sent for or on behalf of 
a Director is taken to be signed by that Director not later than the day and time of receipt of 
the document by the Company or its agent in legible written form. 

50. Defects in appointments 

50.1 All acts done by any meeting of Directors or meeting of a Committee are as valid as if each person 
was duly appointed and qualified to be a Director or a member of the Committee. 

50.2 Rule 50.1 applies even if it is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment 
of a person to be a Director or a member of a Committee that a person so appointed was 
disqualified. 

51 District Policies 

51.1 The Board may adopt by-laws called District Policies consistent with the Act, this Constitution and 
the Constitutional Documents embodying additional provisions for the governance of the Company. 

51.1 Such District Policies may be amended from time to time as therein provided. 

52 Executive Committee 

52.1 The Board of Directors may appoint an executive Committee subject to the following: 

52.2 The Executive Committee shall comprise the District Governor, District Governor elect, the 
District Finance Director and the District Administrator 

(1) The powers of the Executive Committee are limited to those delegated by the Board of Directors 
and may include: 

52.2.1.1 to consider and recommend matters of policy to the Board; 

52.2.1.2 to deal with and be responsible for the day to day running of the Company and the affairs of 
District 9620; 

52.2.1.3 to supervise all committees of the Board; and 

52.2.1.4 to attend to matters of urgency which cannot at that time be practically dealt with by the 
Board as a whole provided that such powers must be exercised subject to any prior Board 
policies and resolutions; 

(2) The Executive Committee must report fully to each meeting of the Board of Directors on matters 
which it has dealt with and where necessary must seek ratification of decisions by the Board. 

53 Appointment of agents 

53.1 The Board of Directors may from time to time by resolution or power of attorney under Seal 
of the Company appoint any person to be the agent of the Company: 

(1) for the purposes;  

(2) with the powers, authorities and discretions (not exceeding those exercisable by the Board of 
Directors under this Constitution); 

(3) for the period; and 
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(4) subject to the conditions, determined by the Board. 

53.2 An appointment by the Board of Directors of an agent of the Company may be made in 
favour of: 

(1) any Corporation; or 

(2) the members, Directors, nominees or managers of any Corporation or firm. 

53.3 The Board of Directors may appoint attorneys or agents by facsimile transmission or 
electronic mail to act for and on behalf of the Company. 

53.4 An agent appointed under this Rule 53 may, be authorised by the Board of Directors to sub-
delegate all or any of the powers, authorities or discretions for the time being vested in him, her or 
it. 

54 Notices generally 

54.1 Any District Club which has not left at or sent to the registered office, a place of address or 
an electronic mail address (for registration in the register) at or to which all notices and documents 
of the Company may be served or sent is not entitled to receive any notice. 

54.2 A notice may be given by the Company to any District Club by: 

(1) serving it on the District Club's President or Secretary personally; 

(2) sending it by post to the District Club or leaving it at the District Club's address as shown in the 
register or the address supplied by the District Club to the Company for the giving of notices; 

(3) transmitting it electronically to the electronic mail address supplied by the District Club to the 
Company for the giving of notices. 

54.3 A District Club may, by written notice to the Company Secretary left at or sent to the 
registered office, require that all notices to be given by the Company or the Directors be served on 
the District Club's attorney at an address specified in the notice. 

54.4 Notice to a District Club whose address for service of notices is outside Australia must be 
sent by airmail, fax or electronic mail. 

54.5 Where a notice is sent by post, service of the notice is taken to be effected by properly 
addressing, prepaying and posting a letter enclosing the notice and to have been effected:  

(1) in the case of a notice of a meeting, on the second business day after the date of its posting; and 

(2) in any other case, at the time at which the letter would be delivered in the ordinary course of 
post. 

54.6 Where a notice is sent by fax or electronic transmission, service of the notice is taken to be 
effected by properly addressing and sending or transmitting the notice and to have been effected on 
the day it is sent. 

55 Notices for General Meetings 

55.1 Notice of every General Meeting must be given:  

(1) in the manner as required by Rules 17 and 18; 
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(2) to every District Club and to each Director; and 

(3) in the event that the General Meeting is the Annual General Meeting, to the auditor of the 
Company (if any). 

55.2 No other person is entitled to receive notice of General Meetings, but notice may be given to 
other persons at the direction of the District Governor. 

56 Dispute Resolution 

56.1 If a dispute arises between any of the Company, the Directors, District Clubs,  District 
Rotarians or District Rotaractors as to any matter touching on the operation of the Company, 
administration of District 9620, administration of a District Club, membership of District 9620 or a 
District Club, the Constitutional Documents or any other matter relating to Rotary International, 
then: 

(1) the parties must act in good faith to attempt to resolve the dispute; 

(2) the District Governor shall be entitled to intervene to attempt to mediate a resolution; 

(3) if the District Governor is a direct party to the dispute, the immediate Past District Governor shall 
similarly be entitled to intervene; 

(4) if the Constitutional Documents provide a method of dispute resolution, any party may require 
this to apply; 

(5) failing resolution, whether or not Rule 56.1(4) applies, any party may require the matter to be 
referred to formal mediation, with the mediator to be nominated by the Queensland Chapter of 
the Resolution Institute or its successor, to be conducted in accordance with the rules of that 
body with the cost shared equally between the parties to the dispute; and 

(6) no party shall commence any form of Court proceedings, save for urgent interlocutory relief, until 
they have made a bona fide attempt to resolve the dispute and have genuinely engaged in 
mediation under Rule 56.1(5). 
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Constitution of Rotary International District 
9620 Limited  
 
Introduction 
 
1. General 
 
1.1 Definitions 
 
(1) In this Constitution, unless the contrary 
intention appears: Act means the Corporations 
Act 2001 and includes any amendment or re-
enactment of it or any legislation passed in 
substitution for it; 
 
(2) Annual General Meeting means the 
annual meeting of the members of the 
Company required to be held each year under 
the Act and this Constitution; 
 

 

 3) Area Governors are appointed by the 
District Governor - elect. (refer Assistant 
Governors). 
New Clause - renumber the remaining 
definitions. 
 

(3) Assistant Governors are appointed by 
the District Governor-elect with responsibilities 
as detailed in the District Policy Documents. 
 
(4) Board of Directors or Board means 
collectively the Directors of the Company so 
described in this Constitution; 
 
(5) Constitutional Documents means the 
Rotary International Constitution, the Rotary 
International By-Laws, the Standard Rotary 
Club Constitution, the Rotary Code of Policies 
and the Rotary International Manual of 
Procedure as amended from time to time; 
 
(6) Committee means a body established 
in accordance with Rule 51 to assist in the 
administration of the affairs of District 9620; 
 
(7) Company means Rotary International 
District 9620 Limited. 
 

 



(8) Corporation means any body corporate 
whether incorporated in the Commonwealth of 
Australia or elsewhere; 
 
(9) Director means a Director of the 
Company and includes all members of the 
Board; 
 
(10) District means a geographical area in 
which Rotary Clubs are grouped for Rotary 
International administrative purposes, pursuant 
to the Constitutional Documents; 
 
(11) District Club means a Rotary or 
Rotaract Club that is chartered by Rotary 
International within the locality of District 9620 
; 
 
(12) District Financial Club means any club 
as defined under rule 1(11) except for those 
excluded by Rule 28.10 
 
(13) District Governor means the Officer of 
Rotary International duly elected pursuant to 
the Constitutional Documents to the Office of 
Governor of District 9620. 
 
(14) District Governor-elect means the 
person who, pursuant to the Constitutional 
Documents, has been appointed to serve as 
Governor of District 9620 in the next Rotary 
Year 
  
(15) District Governor-nominee means the 
person who, pursuant to the Constitutional 
Documents, has been appointed to serve as 
District Governor-elect of District 9620 in the 
year following that when the District Governor 
Elect is elected to serve. 
 
(16) District Governor Nominee Designate 
means the person who, pursuant to the 
Constitutional documents, has been appointed 
to serve in the role of the District Governor 
Nominee when the current incumbent (District 
Governor Nominee) moves to the role of 
District Governor Elect 
 

17) District Governor’s Year means the 
Rotary Year in which a District Rotarian serves 
as District Governor; 

(17) District Governor’s Year means the 
Rotary Year in which a District Rotarian or 
Rotaractor serves as District Governor; 



  

(18) District Rotarian/Rotaractor means a 
Rotarian or Rotaractor (other than an honorary 
member) in good standing of a District 
Rotary/Rotaract Club and includes one period 
per year of seven days of non membership if 
that person is changing clubs; 
 
(19) District 9620 means the geographical 
area promulgated by the President of Rotary 
International from time to time. It includes the 
former Rotary International Districts 9600 and 
9630. 
 
(20) Elector means the District 
Rotarian(s)/Rotaractor(s) duly authorised to 
cast a vote or votes on behalf of their District 
Club at a General Meeting of the Company and 
in the case of any General Meeting of the 
nature referred to in Rule 25 hereof; 
 
(21) General Meeting means any meeting of 
the District Clubs at any time, which may be but 
is not limited to meetings known as: 
 
(a) District Conference 
 
(b) District Resolutions Meeting 
 
(c) District Training Assembly 
 

 

 (23) Honorary member is a class of as defined 
membership by Rotary international 
 
New Clause - renumber the remaining 
definitions. 
 

22) Immediate Past District Governor 
means: 
 
(a) the person who, pursuant to the 
Constitutional Documents, served as the 
District Governor of District 9620 in the Rotary 
Year immediately preceding a current Rotary 
Year; 
 
(b) in the Restructure Year only, the 
Immediate Past District Governors of the 
Company shall be the persons who served in 
the Rotary Year immediately preceding the 

 



Restructure Year as the District Governors for 
Districts 9600 and 9630 respectively. 
 
(23) Member means a District Rotary or 
Rotaract Club and where the context permits 
(and is appropriate in the reasonable opinion of 
the Board), a Provisional District Club; 
 
(24) Month means a calendar month; 
 
(25) Notice includes any communication in 
writing, email or as otherwise approved by the 
Board or members; 
 
(26) Objects of the Company means the 
objects of the Company set out in Rule 5.1; 
 
(27) Officer of the Company has the 
meaning set out in the Act; 
  
(28) Prescribed Rate means the base rate 
charged by the Company's principal banker to 
corporate customers from time to time in 
respect of overdraft loans in excess of one 
hundred thousand dollars ($100,000.00) 
calculated on a daily basis and a year comprised 
of 365 days; 
 
(29) Provisional District Club means a 
Rotary/Rotaract Club that is information, has 
not yet chartered but does have written 
recognition from the District Governor that it is 
in the formation stage 
 
(30) Provisional District Rotarian/Rotaractor 
means a Rotarian or Rotaractor who is a 
member of a Provisional District Club; 
 
(31) Register means the register of District 
Clubs kept pursuant to Rule 12.5 and the Act; 
 

(32) Restructure means the formal 
implementation of changes to the legal identity 
and geographical area of Rotary International 
Districts 9600 and 9630 and that was approved 
by the Board of Rotary International to 
incorporate those Districts to form District 
9620; 
 

Delete Completely 
 

(33) Restructure Year means the Rotary 
Year commencing on 1 July 2021. 

Delete Completely 
 



 

(34) Rotarian/Rotaractor means a person 
who is a member (other than an honorary 
member) in good standing of a Rotary or 
Rotaract Club; 
 

Delete Completely (refer to clause 1.1 (18) 
 

(35) Rotary Club/Rotaract Club means a 
body of Rotarians/Rotaractors which: 
 
(a) has been admitted to membership of 
Rotary International; and 
 
(b) is functioning and remains a member in 
good standing of Rotary International; 
 
(36) Rotary International means the 
association of Rotary Clubs throughout the 
world known as Rotary International registered 
in the United States of America under the 
Illinois general Not for Profit Corporation Act of 
1996; 
 
(37) Rotary International By-Laws means the 
by-laws adopted by Rotary International as 
amended from time to time; 
 
(38) Rotary International Constitution 
means the Constitution adopted by Rotary 
International as amended from time to time; 
 
(39) Rotary International Manual of 
Procedure means the compilation of 
statements of policies and procedures adopted 
by Conventions, the Council on Legislation, the 
Rotary International Board of Directors and the 
Trustees of the Rotary Foundation of Rotary 
International, which also incorporates the other 
Constitutional Documents and other legal 
documents; 
 
(40) Rotary Year means the year ending 30 
June; 
 
(41) Rules means the provisions of this 
Constitution as amended from time to time and 
a reference to a provision of these Rules is a 
reference to that provision as amended from 
time to time; 
 
(42) Seal means the Common Seal (if any) of 
District 9620; 

 



 
(43) Policy Documents means the Policy 
Documents for the management of the District 
adopted by the Board and as amended from 
time to time, 
  
(44) District Rotaract Representative means 
the person who has been recorded with Rotary 
International with the approval of the District 
Governor or District Governor Elect. 
 
1.2 Subject to Rule 2, unless the context 
otherwise requires: 
 
(1) Terms or expressions defined or in 
common use in the Constitutional Documents 
have a similar meaning in these Rules. 
 
(2) Subject to the requirements of the Act, 
where any such term or expression defined, 
used or incorporated by reference in these 
Rules, or its meaning is varied or changed in 
accordance with the requirements of the 
Constitutional Documents from time to time, 
then these Rules shall be construed as if they 
have been similarly varied or changed. 
 
1.3 Interpretation 
 
(1) Where the context permits, the word 
District in this document will for all relevant 
purposes mean District 9620 
 
(2) Reference to: 
 
(a) one gender includes the others; 
 
(b) the singular includes the plural and the 
plural includes the singular; and 
 
(c) a person includes a body corporate. 
 
(3) Except so far as the contrary intention 
appears in this Constitution: 
 
(a) an expression in this Constitution has 
the same meaning as in the Act; and 
 
(b) if an expression is given different 
meanings for the purposes of different 
provisions of the Act, the expression has, in a 



provision of this Constitution that deals with a 
matter dealt with by a particular provision of 
the Act, the same meaning as in that provision 
of the Act. 
 
(4) “Including” and similar expressions are 
not words of limitation. 
 
(5) Headings and any table of contents or 
index are for convenience only and do not form 
part of this Constitution or affect its 
interpretation. 
 
(6) All references to money are taken to be 
in Australian Dollars, unless otherwise stated. 
 
(7) “In writing” and “written” includes all 
modes of reproducing or representing words in 
a visible form including all electronic means. 
 
2. Inconsistency 
 
2.1 To the extent that there is any 
inconsistency between a provision in any of the 
documents referred to in Rule 2.1(2) and other 
provisions in any of them or between a 
provision in any of those documents and a 
provision in any other document referred to in 
any of them: 
 
(1) a specific provision takes precedence 
over a general provision; and 
 
(2) otherwise, to the extent necessary to 
resolve the inconsistency but subject always to 
the requirements of the Act, the following 
order of precedence applies: 
  
(a) the Rotary International Constitution; 
 
(b) the Rotary International By-laws; 
 
(c) the Rotary International Manual of 
Procedure; 
 
(d) the Rotary Code of Policies; and 
 
(e) these Rules . 
 
3. Replaceable Rules 
 



3.1 The replaceable rules contained in the 
Act do not apply to the Company. 
 
4. Actions authorised under the Act and 
compliance with the Act 
 
4.1 Where the Act authorises or permits a 
Company to do any matter or thing if so 
authorised by its Constitution, the Company is 
and will be taken by this Rule to be authorised 
and permitted to do that matter or thing, 
provided it complies with Rule 5, despite any 
other provisions of this Constitution. 
 
5. Objects 
 
5.1 The Objects of the Company are: 
 
(1) To further the Object of Rotary as 
enacted by Rotary International by: 
 
(a) providing leadership and supervision of 
the District Clubs; 
 
(b) helping the individual District Clubs 
advance the Object of Rotary; 
 
(c) owning, leasing or otherwise holding 
assets or an interest in assets for the benefit of 
the District and/or one or more District Clubs, 
as the Board determines in its sole discretion 
from time to time, including for example but 
without limitation, plant and equipment and 
real property; and 
 
(d) holding, maintaining and utilizing cash 
or other financial reserves or provisions for the 
benefit of the District and/or one or more 
District Clubs, as the Board determines in its 
sole discretion from time to time; 
 
(2) to encourage, promote, extend and 
support District Clubs and to co-ordinate their 
activities; 
 
(3) to assist the District Governor in 
coordinating the activities of District Clubs and 
in the performance of their duties and 
responsibilities under the Constitutional 
Documents, these Rules, the District Policies 
and the District Strategic Plan; 



 
(4) to ensure continuity within District 
9620 by working with the past, current and 
incoming District leaders in fostering effective 
District Clubs; 
 
(5) to assemble and disseminate 
information and knowledge about matters 
affecting Rotary International, District 9620, the 
Rotary Foundation of Rotary International and 
District Clubs to District Rotarians/Rotaractors 
and the public; 
 
(6) to work with the District Clubs and their 
leaders to encourage participation in the 
District Strategic Plan(s); 
 
(7) to provide inspiration and motivation 
to the District Clubs; 
  
(8) to promote, demonstrate, advance and 
encourage interest and participation in the 
administration, meetings, happenings and 
events involving District Clubs and District 
Rotarians and Rotaractors; 
 
(9) to co-operate with any Government or 
private body in fostering the Objects of the 
Company and Rotary International; 
 
(10) not to diminish the services provided 
by District Clubs and District 
Rotarians/Rotaractors on a local level; 
 
(11) to raise funds, undertake projects and 
receive donations or grants in the furtherance 
of its Objects; 
 
(12) to expend all monies and funds raised 
or received for the furtherance of its Objects; 
 
(13) not to conduct the Company activities 
for the direct or indirect profit or gain for its 
Members; 
 
(14) generally to do all things which in the 
opinion of the Board of Directors are incidental 
or conducive to the attainment of the above 
Objects or any of them; and 
 



(15) upon 1 July 2021 to absorb the assets 
and liabilities of District 9600 and 9630 and to 
change the Company name to Rotary 
International District 9620 Limited. 
 

Delete Completely 
 

5.2 Nothing in this Rule 5 will be construed 
to limit the manner in which the Company may 
exercise its powers to pursue the Objects 
stated in Rule 5.1. 
 
5.3 The Company can only exercise its 
powers under the Act to: 
 
(1) carry out the Objects in Rule 5.1; and 
 
(2) do all things incidental or convenient in 
relation to the exercise of power under Rule 
5.1. 
 
5.4 When interpreting the Objects in Rule 
5.1, each Object may be construed jointly or 
separately and independently of any other 
Objects, as the case requires. 
 
6. Rotary International 
 
6.1 This Company has been formed with 
the express approval of Rotary International 
and its operation is subject to the continued 
approval by Rotary International. If the 
approval of Rotary International is withdrawn 
this Company must wind itself up or cease all 
association with Rotary International as well as 
change its name so it no longer refers to Rotary 
or Rotary International. 
 
Income and Property 
 
7. Application of income and property 
 
7.1 The Company may only act as a non-
profit and non-share capital corporation. 
 
7.2 Subject to Rules 7.3 and 7.4, income 
and property of the Company must be applied 
solely towards the promotion of the Objects of 
the Company set out in Rule 5 and no portion 
of it may be paid or transferred, directly or 
indirectly, to any District Club, Rotarian, 
Rotaractor, Director or other Officer of the 

 



Company whether by way of dividend, bonus or 
otherwise. 
 
7.3 Nothing in Rules 7.1 or 7.2 prevents any 
payment in good faith by the Company of: 
  
(1) reasonable and proper remuneration to 
any District Club, District Rotarian or District 
Rotaractor for any services rendered or goods 
supplied in the ordinary and usual course of 
business to the Company; 
 
(2) payment of allowances and payment or 
reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred by a District Club, District Rotarian or 
District Rotaractor on behalf of the Company 
where the amount payable does not exceed an 
amount previously approved by the Directors 
or where the incurring of the expense is ratified 
by the Directors; 
 
(3) moneys to a District Rotarian or District 
Rotaractor, being a person engaged in any 
profession or business, for all usual professional 
or other charges for work done by that person 
or that person's firm or employer, where the 
provision of the service has the prior approval 
of the Directors and where the amount payable 
is approved by the Directors and is not more 
than an amount which commercially would be 
reasonable payment for the service; or 
 
(4) interest at a rate not exceeding the 
Prescribed Rate on money borrowed from a 
District Club. 
 
7.4 The Company must not pay fees to 
Directors, however the Company may make 
payments in good faith for: 
 
(1) the payment or reimbursement of out-
of-pocket expenses (either directly or by prior 
approved allowance) incurred by a Director in 
the performance of the Director's duties to the 
Company where the amount payable does not 
exceed an amount previously approved by the 
Directors or where the Directors ratify the 
incurring of the expense; 
 
(2) moneys owing to any Director, being a 
person engaged in any profession or business, 



for all usual professional or other charges for 
work done by that person or that person's firm 
or employer where the provision of the service 
has the prior approval of the Directors and 
where the amount payable is approved by the 
Directors and is not more than an amount 
which commercially would be reasonable 
payment for the service; 
 
(3) an insurance premium in respect of a 
contract ensuring a Director to which 
subsection 212(1) of the Act refers or the 
provision of a financial benefit to a Director 
which would be permitted by the Act were the 
Company a public company; and 
 
(4) any other payment or allowance to any 
Director approved for good cause in 
furtherance of the Objects of the Company 
approved by the other Directors. 
 
7.5 Nothing in these Rules prevents the 
District Governor or other Officer of the 
Company from receiving and retaining any 
moneys paid or allowed to them by Rotary 
International in the course of their service to 
Rotary International. 
 
8. Administration and District Policies 
 
8.1 The Company will be managed by or 
under the direction of a Board of Directors. 
 
8.2 The Board of Directors shall comprise 
not less than 6 nor more than 9 District 
Rotarians or Rotaractors and the Board will be 
responsible for the administration of the 
Company. 
 
8.3 The District Rotarians holding the 
positions of: 
 
(1) District Governor; 
 
(2) Immediate Past District Governor who 
served in District 9620; 
 

(a) in the Restructure Year only, each 
Immediate Past District Governor who served 
as the District Governor for District 9600 and 
District 9630; 

Delete Completely 
 
Renumber the sub-clauses 
 



 

(3) District Governor-elect; 
 
(4) District Governor-nominee; 
 
(5) Company Secretary 
 
(6) District Administrator 
 
(7) Finance Director 
 
 
in each Rotary Year shall always be members of 
the Board of Directors and Officers of the 
Company. 
 
8.4 The District Governor-elect must within 
a reasonable time preceding their District 
Governor’s year give notice in writing to the 
District Administrator and Company Secretary 
of the full names, addresses and other relevant 
particulars of the District Rotarians who are to 
serve as members of the Board of Directors in 
the next Rotary year. 
 
8.5 In accordance with Rotary International 
Code of policy the District Governor shall report 
annually to the Clubs on the state of the District 
incorporation. 
 
8.6 A new Board of Directors (constituted 
as provided in this Rule) shall take office at the 
commencement of each Rotary year. 
 
8.7 The Board may make, amend or repeal 
District Policies, consistent with this 
Constitution for the good order, business 
conduct and management of the Company. 
 
8.8 The Board shall notify District Clubs of 
any changes to the District Policies. 
 
8.9 A District Policy may be set aside or 
amended at a General Meeting. 
 
 
9. District Governor Role and Selection of 
the District Governor Nominee Designate 
 
9.1 The District Governor is: 
 

 



(1) the officer of Rotary International in 
the District functioning under the general 
control and supervision of the Board of Rotary 
International; 
 
(2) charged by Rotary International with 
the duty of furthering the Object of Rotary by 
providing leadership and supervision of the 
District Clubs; and 
 
(3) the highest-ranking Officer of the 
Company. 
 
9.2 Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary contained in the Act: 
 
(1) the District Governor is the Chair of the 
Company; and 
 
(2) where the word “Chair” is used, it 
refers to the District Governor except with 
respect to The District Nominating Committee 
  
9.3 The powers, duties and obligations of 
the District Governor are as set out in the 
Constitutional Documents and may also be 
contained in the District Policies and the District 
Leadership Plan. 
 

9.4 The District Governor will appoint and, 
at their discretion delegate functions of the 
management of the Company to, Assistant 
Governors and Committees. 
 

9.4 The District Governor will appoint and, 
at their discretion delegate functions of the 
management of the Company to, 
Assistant/Area Governors and Committees. 
 
 

9.5 Despite Rules 9.1, 9.2, 9.3 and 9.4, the 
powers of the Chair do not include the powers 
of the Board that must be exercised by the 
Board. The Board shall not divest its future 
exercise of discretions whether conferred by 
the Act or this Constitution. 
 
9.6 The District Governor Nominee 
Designate shall be appointed by the District 
Nominating Committee. 
 
9.7 The District Nominating Committee for 
that purpose shall comprise: 
 
(a) Category 1 - The District Governor; 
 

 



(b) Category 2 - The District Governor-
elect; 
 
(c) Category 3 - The District Governor-
nominee 
 

(d) Category 4 – A Past District Governor 
determined by a majority decision of the Board, 
who shall chair the nominating committee. 
They will have served as a Past District 
Governor in District 9620, 9630 or 9600 during 
the five years prior to the establishment of the 
nomination committee. 
 

(d) Category 4 - A Past District Governor 
determined by a majority decision of the Board, 
who shall chair the nominating committee.  
They will hold a casting vote, if required. 
They will have served as a Past District 
Governor in District 9620, 9630 or 9600 during 
the five years prior to the establishment of the 
nomination committee. 

(e) Category 5 - One District 
Rotarian/Rotaractor determined by a majority 
decision of the committee members from 
Categories 1,2,3, and 4. They will have held the 
office of Assistant Governor, District Rotaract 
Representative or have served as Chair of one 
of the District Committees in District 9620, 
9630 or 9600 for a full term during the five 
years prior to the establishment of the 
nominating committee. 
 

Delete Completely 
 
 

(f) Category 6 - Two District Rotarians/ 
Rotaractors determined by a majority decision 
of the committee members from Categories 
1,2,3 and 4. They will have held office for a full 
term as President of a District Club in District 
9620, 9630 or 9600 during the five years prior 
to the establishment of the nominating 
committee. 
 

(f – e) Category 5 - Two District Rotarians/ 
Rotaractors determined by a majority decision 
of the committee members from Categories 
1,2,3 and 4. They will have held office for a full 
term in a District Leadership position (not a 
District Governor) or as President of a District 
Club in District 9620, 9630 or 9600 during the 
five years prior to the establishment of the 
nominating committee. 
 
 
 
 

No more than one person on the nominating 
committee can be from any one club nor be 
from the club of an applicant. 
 

No more than one person on the nominating 
committee can be from any one club nor be 
from the club of an applicant. 
 
No member of the nominating committee can 
be from the club of an applicant. 
 
No member of the Nomination Committee will 
be considered eligible that year 
 

In instances where a person is on the 
nominating committee and is excluded under 

In instances, where a person from Categories 
1,2, 3 or 4, is on the nominating committee and 
is excluded under this provision their 



this provision their replacement will be 
selected by the Board of the Company. 
 

replacement will be selected by the Board of 
the Company. 
 
 

9.8 The composition of the Nominating 
Committee must be finalized before 15 
December. 
 
Nominations for the position of District 
Governor Nominee will be called no later than 
31 December.  
 

9.8 The composition of the Nominating 
Committee must be finalized before 15 
December 31 January with the Chair (Category 
4) to be in place no later than 15 November. 
 

Applications for the position of District 
Governor Nominee will close on 20 February. 
 

Applications for the position of District 
Governor Nominee will close on 28 February 
 

Selection of the District Governor Nominee will 
be announced no later than the 15 May. 
 

Selection of the District Governor Nominee 
will be announced no later than the 15 May. 
 
The timeframes for the selection of the District 
Governor Nominee will be as provided by 
Rotary International from time to time.  
 

 
10. Other Officers 
  
10.1 A District Rotarian/Rotaractor will, in 
accordance with the Act, be appointed by the 
Board of Directors to the position of Company 
Secretary upon such conditions as the Board 
may think fit and any person so appointed may 
be removed by the Board. 
 
10.2 The Board of Directors may appoint an 
Acting Secretary as temporary substitute for 
the Company Secretary. Whilst exercising such 
office, the Acting Secretary will be deemed to 
be the Company Secretary for the purpose of 
this Constitution. 
 
10.3 A District Rotarian/ Rotaractor will, in 
accordance with the Income Tax Assessment 
Act 1936, be appointed by the Board to the 
position of Public Officer of the Company upon 
such conditions as the Board may think fit and 
any person so appointed may be removed by 
the Board. 
 
10.4 Except as provided for in Rules 10.1, 
10.2 and 10.3, the Board of Directors may from 
time to time: 
 

 



(1) create any position or positions in the 
Company conferred with any powers or 
responsibilities as the District Governor may 
from time to time determine; and 
 
(2) appoint any person, whether or not a 
Director, to any position or positions created 
under Rule 10.4(1). 
 
10.5 The District Governor may at any time 
terminate the appointment of a person holding 
a position created under Rule 10.4 and may 
abolish the position if lawfully permitted to do 
so. 
 
10.6 Each Officer of the Company and any 
person appointed under Rule 10.1, 10.2, 10.3 
and 10.4(2) must be a District 
Rotarian/Rotaractor. 
 
11. Liability 
 
11.1 The liability of the Members is limited. 
 
11.2 Each Member undertakes to contribute 
to the property of the Company if the Company 
is wound up while it is a member or within 1 
year after it ceases to be a member, for 
payment of the Company's debts and liabilities 
contracted before it ceases to be a member 
and of the costs, charges and expenses of 
winding up and for the adjustment of the rights 
of the contributories among themselves, such 
amount as may be required, but not exceeding 
$10.00. 
 
12. Members 
 
12.1 The number of District Clubs with 
which the Company proposes to be registered 
or which shall be Members of the Company is 
not limited. 
 
12.2 The membership of the Company shall 
comprise and be strictly limited to chartered 
District Rotary and Rotaract Clubs. 
 
12.3 A District Club may consent to become 
a member of the Company and have its 
membership entered on the Register once that 



District Club provides evidence satisfactory to 
the Company that: 
 
(1) Rotary International has granted to that 
District Club a Certificate of Membership in 
Rotary International; and 
 
(2) It has paid any applicable membership 
fee to the Company. 
 
12.4 The admission to or removal from 
membership of Rotary International of a 
District Club immediately and automatically 
results in a corresponding change in the 
Membership of the Company. 
  
12.5 The Company Secretary must cause a 
Register to be kept in accordance with the Act 
in which will be entered the names and 
addresses of all District Clubs admitted to 
membership of the Company and the date of 
admission. 
 
 
13. Membership fee and annual 
subscription 
 
13.1 Fees and subscriptions will be 
established through the process of budget 
estimates for the succeeding Rotary Year, such 
estimates being prepared by the District 
Governor-elect for their District Governor’s 
Year in consultation with the District Finance 
Committee, notice of which must be provided 
to District Clubs at least 28 days prior to the 
General Meeting at which that budget is to be 
considered and approved or amended. Voting 
can be undertaken at a general meeting in 
person, on-line or by post 
 
13.2 The District 9620 budget shall be 
financed by the District Clubs by way of a per 
capita levy on the members of those clubs. The 
amount of the levy shall be decided in 
accordance with the relevant provisions of the 
Rotary International By-Laws in force from time 
to time. 
 
13.3 The per capita levy is mandatory on all 
District Clubs. The invoice will be distributed 
twice per year and the number of members per 



Club will be as recorded on Rotary.org on 
January 1 and July 1 of each year. 
 
14. Winding Up 
 
14.1 The Company must immediately and 
automatically cease operations and must be 
wound up in accordance with the Act after the 
following has occurred: - 
 
(1) the directive of the Rotary International 
Board; or 
 
(2) the approval of two-thirds of the 
District Clubs in a vote at the General Meeting 
to be held at the District Conference, at any 
other Special General Meeting convened under 
the Act or in a ballot-by-mail. 
 
14.2 The District Governor must give the 
Rotary International Board: 
 
(1) notice of any decision by the District 
Clubs to wind up the Company; and 
 
(2) a final report upon the completion of 
the process of winding up the Company. 
 
14.3 If, upon the winding-up or dissolution 
of the Company in accordance with the Act 
there remains, after satisfaction of all its debts 
and liabilities, any property of any kind 
(surplus) then that surplus must not be paid to, 
or distributed among the District Clubs, but 
must be given or transferred to some other 
organisation(s) or institution(s) having objects 
similar to the Objects of the Company which 
continue(s) to perform the Company’s activities 
in respect to the District Clubs (for example 
some other Rotary District(s)), or if there is no 
such entity, one or more organisations or 
institutions with objects similar to those of the 
Company provided the relevant organisation or 
institution has a memorandum of association or 
Constitution which prohibits distribution of its 
or their income and property among its 
members to an extent at least as great as is 
imposed on the Company under Rule 7.2 of this 
Constitution, any organisation(s) or 
institution(s) to be determined by the District 
Clubs at or before the time of dissolution, and 



in default of any such determination by 
application to the Supreme Court of 
Queensland for determination. 
 
15. Indemnity 
  
15.1 To the extent permitted by the Act and 
without limiting the powers of the Company, 
the Company must indemnify and indemnifies 
each person who is, or has been, an Officer of 
the Company against any liability which results 
directly or indirectly from facts or 
circumstances relating to the person serving or 
having served in that capacity in relation to the 
Company: 
 
(1) whether or not the liability arises from 
a prior contingent liability, and provided that 
the liability does not arise out of conduct 
involving a lack of good faith or conduct known 
to the person to be wrongful; and 
 
(2) for costs and expenses incurred by the 
person in defending proceedings, whether civil 
or criminal, in which judgment is given in favour 
of the person or in which the person is 
acquitted, or in connection with any application 
in relation to proceedings in which the court 
grants relief to the person under the Act. 
 
15.2 The Company need not indemnify a 
person as provided for in Rule 15.1 in respect of 
a liability to the extent that the person is 
entitled to an indemnity in respect of that 
liability under a contract of insurance. 
 
15.3 To the extent permitted by the Act and 
without limiting the powers of the Company, 
the Directors may authorise the Company to, 
and the Company may enter into any: 
 
(1) documentary indemnity in favour of; or 
 
(2) insurance policy for the benefit of, a 
person who is, or has been, an employee or 
Officer of the Company, which indemnity or 
insurance policy may be in such terms as the 
Directors approve and, in particular, may apply 
to acts or omissions prior to or after the time of 
entering into the indemnity or policy. 
 



15.4 The benefits of each indemnity given in 
Rule 15.1 continues, even after its terms or the 
terms of this Rule 15are modified or deleted, in 
respect of a liability arising out of acts or 
omissions occurring prior to the modification or 
deletion. 
 
16. Common Seal 
 
16.1 The Company may have a common 
seal. If the Company has a common seal it may 
also have a duplicate common seal. 
 
16.2 A seal may only be used on a resolution 
of the Board. Every document to which the seal 
is affixed must be signed by the District 
Governor (or in their absence, the immediate 
Past District Governor) and the District Finance 
Director (or in their absence, one other 
Director). 
 
16.3 This Rule 16 does not limit the ways in 
which the Company may execute a document. 
 
16.4 This Rule 16 does not otherwise limit 
the ways in which the Company may execute a 
document provided always that any deed or 
other document intended to bind the Company 
to a contractual or similar legal obligation or 
pursuant to which the Company will incur an 
indebtedness in excess of 
$10,000.00 must be signed in the same manner 
as Rule 16.2. 
 
17. Convening meetings 
 
17.1 The Company must, in each Rotary 
Year, hold: 
 
(1) an Annual General Meeting; and 
  
(2) General Meetings convened in 
accordance with these Rules or the Act 
including any such meeting that may be held in 
conjunction with the District Training Assembly 
and the District Conference. 
 
17.2 The District Governor may determine 
the date, time and place of those meetings in 
their District Governor’s Year but the Annual 
General Meeting must be held at least once in 



each calendar year and within 5 months of the 
end of each Rotary Year unless the Australian 
Securities and Investment Commission 
approves otherwise. 
 
17.3 The notice convening the Annual 
General Meeting must be given at least 21 days 
in advance of the Annual General Meeting and 
specify that the meeting is an Annual General 
Meeting. The ordinary business to be 
conducted at the Annual General Meeting is: 
 
(1) the consideration of the annual 
financial report, Directors' report and auditor's 
report; 
 
(2) the confirmation in office of the Board 
of Directors selected in accordance with these 
Rules (as the case requires) for the current 
and/or next Rotary Year; 
 
(3) the status of the Company’s 
incorporation. 
 
17.4 The District Governor or any three 
Directors may convene a General Meeting 
whenever the District Governor or those 
Directors think fit by giving at least 21 days’ 
notice, provided that those same Directors may 
not convene more than one extraordinary 
general meeting in any six (6) month period. 
 
17.5 The Directors who convene a general 
meeting under Rule 17.4 may, with the 
agreement of the District Governor, cancel that 
meeting by notice in writing to all District Clubs, 
but no meeting convened on the requisition of 
District Clubs may be cancelled without the 
consent of each convening District Club. 
 
17.6 The District Governor may postpone a 
General Meeting or change the place at which 
it is to be held by notice not later than 72 hours 
prior to the time of the meeting to all persons 
to whom the notice of meeting (the first notice) 
was given. The postponing notice must specify 
the place, date and time of the further meeting. 
The meeting is taken to be duly convened 
under the first notice. 
 



17.7 The District Governor must, on request 
in writing of the District Clubs representing not 
less than 10% of the total number of District 
Clubs convene a General Meeting of the 
Company; 
 
17.8 A request by District Clubs for a 
General Meeting pursuant to Rule 17.7 must: 
 
(1) be in writing and state the objects of 
the meeting; 
 
(2) be signed by the Presidents of the 
District Clubs requesting the meeting; and 
 
(3) be sent to the registered office of the 
Company and the District Governor. 
 
17.9 If the District Governor does not cause 
a General Meeting to be held within 1 month 
after the date on which the request is sent to 
the registered office of the Company, the 
District Clubs which make a request under Rule 
17.7 may request the Company Secretary to 
convene a General Meeting to be held not later 
than 3 months after that date and the Company 
Secretary must then convene a General 
Meeting. 
 
17.10 If a General Meeting is convened by 
District Clubs in accordance with Rule 17.7, it 
must be convened in the same manner so far as 
possible as a meeting convened under Rule 
17.4. 
  
18. Notice of General Meetings 
 
18.1 Each notice convening a General 
Meeting must contain the information required 
by the Act. 
 
18.2 The non-receipt of a notice convening a 
General Meeting by, or the accidental omission 
to give notice to, any person entitled to receive 
notice does not invalidate the proceedings at or 
any resolution passed at the meeting. 
 
19. Telephonic and electronic/direct voting 
 
19.1 A District Club may request to have its 
Elector(s) present at a General Meeting by 



teleconference or electronic means. If a 
majority of Directors consent to Elector(s) being 
present at that meeting by teleconference or 
other electronic means, the Directors must 
(subject to appropriate facilities being 
available) use their best endeavours to 
facilitate the attendance of those Electors at 
the meeting. An Elector present via 
teleconference or electronic means will be 
responsible for making the connection to the 
meeting and an Elector present must be 
permitted to vote by indicating whether they 
vote for or against a resolution. 
 
19.2 An Elector present via electronic means 
at the meeting is deemed to be present at the 
meeting. 
 
19.3 In addition to voting by Elector(s) 
indicating whether they vote for or against a 
resolution in a permitted meeting, the Directors 
may determine that at any General Meeting, 
Elector(s) who are entitled to attend that 
meeting are entitled to a direct vote without 
physically attending the General Meeting. A 
“direct vote” includes a vote delivered to the 
Company Secretary of the Company by post,, 
email or other electronic means approved by 
the Directors from time to time. The Directors 
may from time to time, specify the form, 
method and timing of giving a direct vote at a 
General Meeting in order for the vote to be 
valid. 
 
20. Business of General Meetings 
 
20.1 Unless the Electors present agree by 
majority otherwise, business must not be 
transacted at any General Meeting except as 
set out in the notice of meeting. 
 
21. Quorum 
 
21.1 Business must not be transacted at a 
General Meeting unless there is a quorum of 
Electors present at the time when the meeting 
proceeds to business. 
 
21.2 Except as otherwise provided in this 
Constitution, at least one half of the total 
number of District Financial Clubs of the 



Company present by their Electors or proxy 
constitutes a quorum. 
 
21.3 At any General Meeting dealing with 
the matters referred to in Rule 25.3, the 
quorum will be at least one half of the total 
number of District Financial Clubs of the 
Company present by their Electors or proxy 
 
22. If quorum not present 
 
22.1 If a quorum is not present within 30 
minutes after the time appointed for the 
meeting: 
 
(1) where the meeting is convened on the 
requisition of District Clubs, the proposed 
meeting is automatically dissolved (subject to 
Rule 24.1); 
 
(2) in any other case: 
  
(a) the meeting stands adjourned to a day 
and at a time and place as the Directors decide 
or, if no decision is made by the Directors, to 
the same day in the next week at the same 
time and place (“the adjourned meeting”); and 
 

(b) if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is 
not present within 20 minutes after the time 
appointed for the meeting, the meeting is 
automatically dissolved. 
 

(b) if at the adjourned meeting a quorum is 
not present within 20 30 minutes after the time 
appointed for the meeting, the meeting is 
automatically dissolved can commence with 
the members present  
 
 

23. Chair of meetings 
 
23.1 At every General Meeting: 
 
(1) the District Governor, or in the District 
Governor's absence; 
 
(2) the District Governor-elect, or in the 
District Governor-elect's absence; 
 
(3) a Director as chosen by Directors 
present at the meeting, or in the absence of all 
Directors; 
 

 



(4) an Elector of a District Club as elected 
by District Clubs' Electors present at the 
meeting; is to preside as Chair. 
 
24. Adjournments 
 
24.1 The Chair may and must if so directed 
by the meeting, adjourn the meeting from time 
to time and from place to place. 
 
24.2 The only business, which may be 
transacted at any adjourned meeting, is the 
business left unfinished at the meeting from 
which the adjournment took place. 
 
24.3 When a meeting is adjourned for 30 
days or more, notice of the adjourned meeting 
must be given as in the case of an original 
meeting. 
 
24.4 Except as provided by Rule 24.3, it is 
not necessary to give any notice of an 
adjournment or of the business to be 
transacted at an adjourned meeting. 
 
25. Voting at General Meetings 
 
25.1 The provisions of the Rotary 
International By-Laws from time to time which 
determine (in respect of each District Club) 
such things as: 
 
(1) the selection, certification and sending 
of Electors; 
 
(2) the number of Electors and votes to 
which each such District Club is entitled; and 
 
(3) how those Electors must cast such 
votes, 
 
at any District Conference or District 
Resolutions Meeting (if one is held separately) 
(“the meeting rules”) shall, with all necessary 
amendments, apply to any General Meeting of 
the Company and this Constitution shall be 
read subject to and applied consistently with 
the meeting rules. 
 
25.2 Subject to Rules 19, any resolution to 
be considered at a General Meeting is to be 



decided on a show of hands of the Electors in 
attendance. For the avoidance of doubt, a 
proxy appointed under Rule 30 or an attorney 
appointed under Rule 32 may vote on a show of 
hands if authorised to be present and to vote 
under this Constitution. 
  
25.3 Unless as an Elector, a District 
Rotarian/Rotaractor may not vote but can be 
heard at a General Meeting on matters 
submitted to a vote in respect of: 
 
(1) the selection of a District Governor 
Nominee Designate; 
 

(2) election of a member and alternate 
member of the nominating committee for 
director; 
 

(2) election of a member and alternate 
member of the nominating committee for 
Rotary International director; 
 
 

(3) composition and terms of reference of 
the nominating committee for District 
Governor; 
 
(4) election of the representative and 
alternate representative of District 9620 to the 
Council on Legislation; and 
 
(5) the amount of the per capita levy. 
 
25.4 A declaration by the Chair that a 
resolution has on a show of hands been carried 
or lost and an entry to that effect in the 
minutes of the meeting are conclusive evidence 
of the fact without the need to show the 
number or proportion of the votes recorded in 
favour of or against the resolution. 
 
25.5 District Clubs have the right to demand 
a poll upon any resolution presented to a 
General Meeting in accordance with the Act. 
 
25.6 District Clubs have the right to demand 
and the Chair has the right to require that any 
resolution presented to a General Meeting is to 
be decided by secret ballot. 
 
26. Procedure for polls and secret ballot 
 

 



26.1 A poll or secret ballot must be taken in 
the manner and at the time as determined by 
the Chair. 
 
26.2 The result of the poll or secret ballot is 
a resolution of the meeting at which the poll or 
secret ballot took place. 
 
26.3 If a poll or secret ballot has been 
demanded or is required at a meeting, the 
meeting may continue with the transaction of 
business other than the resolution on which the 
poll or secret ballot was demanded or required. 
 
27. Chair's casting vote 
 
27.1 In the case of an equality of votes on a 
show of hands or on a poll the Chair will have a 
casting vote. 
 
28. Representation and voting of District 
Clubs 
 
28.1 A District Club may only vote at a 
General Meeting of the Company by its Elector 
or if no Elector is able to attend, a duly 
appointed proxy or attorney 
 
28.2 On each matter submitted to a vote to 
which this Rule 28 applies at any General 
Meeting, each District Club must vote in 
accordance with the meeting rules referred to 
in Rule 25.1. 
 
28.3 The Elector(s) of a District Club at a 
General Meeting of the Company is or are: 
 
(1) its President if present at any General 
Meeting of the Company (except District 
Training Assembly); 
 
(2) its President Elect (or his or her duly 
authorised designated representative pursuant 
to the Constitutional Documents in the absence 
of the President Elect) at the District Training 
Assembly; or 
  
(3) 1 or more District Rotarians who are 
members of and duly selected and certified by 
that District Club as its Elector(s) pursuant to 



the Constitutional Documents for the relevant 
meeting. 
 
28.4 A District Club must give formal written 
notice of appointment of: 
 
(1) the designated representative 
appointed under Rule 28.3 (2); and 
 
(2) its Elector(s) appointed under Rule 28.3 
(3), 
 
in accordance with the meeting rules and 
comply with the provisions of Rule 28 as to 
notice to the Company but is not otherwise 
required to give such notice. 
 
28.5 If a District Club is entitled to vote at a 
General Meeting, its Elector must cast such 
vote in the manner required by the 
Constitutional Documents. 
 
28.6 An Elector, proxy or attorney appointed 
to attend and vote for a District Club at a 
General Meeting has the same rights as a 
District Club: 
 
(1) to be heard at the meeting; 
 
(2) to vote (but subject to any limitations 
imposed in the appointment, the meeting rules 
and these Rules); and 
 
(3) to demand a poll. 
 
28.7 Notice of the appointment of an 
Elector, may be given by formal notice of such 
appointment duly signed on behalf of the 
District Club by its President and its Secretary 
or by the Elector signing the attendance book 
maintained to record attendance at such 
meeting. 
 
28.8 The formal notice or, as the case 
requires, the attendance book must contain the 
following information: 
 
(1) the District Club’s name; 
 
(2) the Elector's name and the name of the 
office held by the Elector; and 



 
(3) the meetings at which the appointment 
may be used. 
 
28.9 The following rules apply to such 
appointments: 
 
(1) an appointment may be a standing one 
and may authorise an Elector to vote at his or 
her discretion; 
 
(2) an undated appointment is taken to 
have been dated on the day it is given to the 
Company; 
 
(3) an appointment may specify the way 
the Elector is to vote on a particular resolution. 
If it does, the Elector must vote accordingly; 
 
(4) an appointment does not have to be 
witnessed; and 
 
(5) a later appointment revokes an earlier 
one if both appointments could not be validly 
exercised at the meeting. 
 
28.10 A District Club is not entitled to vote at 
a General Meeting unless all sums presently 
payable by the District Club in respect of 
membership of the Company and Rotary 
International have been paid in full. This rule 
does not apply for debts of $300.00 or less and 
for such minor debts only, the Club will be 
eligible to vote. 
 
29. Objections to qualification to vote 
 
29.1 An objection to the qualification of a 
District Club to vote may be raised only at the 
meeting or adjourned meeting at which the 
vote objected to is tendered. 
 
29.2 Any objection must be referred to the 
Chair, whose decision is final. 
 
29.3 A vote allowed after an objection is 
valid for all purposes. 
 
 
30. Proxies 
 



30.1 A District Club may designate a proxy 
for its absent Elector(s) at any General Meeting 
of the Company. 
 
30.2 The proxy must be a District 
Rotarian/Rotaractor and may be a member of 
the designating District Club. 
 

30.3 The proxy designation must be certified 
by the president and secretary of the relevant 
club. 
 

30.3 The proxy designation must be certified 
by the president and secretary of the relevant 
club or in their absence other members of the 
that Club’s Board duly appointed to do so. 
 

30.4 The proxy is entitled to vote as proxy 
for the non–attending Elector of a District Club. 
 
31. Form of proxy 
 
31.1 An instrument appointing a proxy must 
be in writing and signed by the president or 
secretary of the District Club on whose behalf 
the appointment is made. 
 
31.2 A proxy may vote as the proxy thinks fit 
on any motion or resolution in respect of which 
no manner of voting has been indicated to the 
proxy by the District Club appointing the proxy. 
 
31.3 An instrument appointing a proxy may 
be in any form that the Directors may accept or 
stipulate. 
 
32. Lodgement of powers of attorney and 
proxies 
 
32.1 For an instrument appointing an 
attorney to act on behalf of a District Club at all 
meetings of the Company (or at all meetings for 
a specified period) to be effective, the following 
documents must be received by the Company 
not less than 48 hours (or any shorter period as 
the Directors may permit) before the 
commencement of the meeting or adjourned 
meeting at which the attorney proposes to 
vote: 
 
(1) the power of attorney or a certified 
copy of that power of attorney; and 
 

 



(2) any evidence that the Directors may 
reasonably require of the validity and non-
revocation of that power of attorney. 
 
32.2 For the purposes of Rule 32.1, the 
Company receives these documents when they 
are received at any of the following: 
 
(1) the Company's registered office; or 
 
(2) a place, or electronic address specified 
by the Company for the purpose in the notice 
of meeting. 
  
32.3 For an instrument (other than a power 
of attorney) appointing an Elector or proxy of a 
District Club to be effective, it must be received 
by the Company (at the place, or electronic 
address specified by the Company for the 
purpose in the notice convening the meeting) 
not less than 48 hours (or any shorter period as 
the Directors may permit) before the 
commencement of the meeting or adjourned 
meeting at which the proxy proposes to vote. 
 
33. Validity of proxies 
 
33.1 A vote exercised in accordance with the 
terms of an instrument of proxy, a power of 
attorney or other relevant instrument of 
appointment is valid despite the revocation of 
the instrument (or of the authority under which 
the instrument was executed) or the power if 
no notice in writing of the revocation has been 
received by the Company at its registered office 
at least 48 hours (or any shorter period as the 
Directors may permit) before the 
commencement of the meeting, or adjourned 
meeting at which the instrument is used or the 
power is exercised. 
 
33.2 A proxy is not revoked by the principal 
attending and taking part in the meeting, unless 
the principal actually votes at the meeting on 
the resolution for which the proxy is proposed 
to be used. 
 
34. Where proxy is incomplete 
 



34.1 No instrument appointing a proxy is 
treated as invalid merely because it does not 
contain: 
 
(1) the address of the appointer or of a 
proxy; 
 
(2) the proxy's name or the name of the 
office held by the proxy; or 
 
(3) in relation to any or all resolutions, an 
indication of the manner in which the proxy is 
to vote. 
 
34.2 Where the instrument does not specify 
the name of a proxy, the instrument is taken to 
be given in favour of the chairman of the 
meeting. 
 
35. Rights of officers and advisers to 
attend General Meeting 
 
35.1 Any person (whether a District Club 
Elector or not) permitted by the Directors to 
attend any General Meeting is entitled to be 
present and, at the request of the Chair, to be 
heard at that General Meeting. 
 
36. Composition of the Board of Directors 
 
36.1 All Company Officers must be District 
Rotarians/Rotaractors. 
 
36.2 All members of the Board of Directors 
(other than the District Governor, the most 
recent Past District Governor, the District 
Governor-elect, the District Governor-nominee 
(who will always automatically be members of 
the Board of Directors) and the Company 
Secretary (who is to be selected by the Board of 
Directors as provided in Rule 10.1) are to be 
notified to the Company Secretary by the 
District Governor-elect as provided in Rule 8.5 
to serve as Directors during his or her District 
Governor’s Year. 
 
36.3 A member of the Board of Directors 
may resign from the Board by giving written 
notice of resignation to the Company Secretary. 
 
36.4 The resignation takes effect on: 



 
(1) the day and at the time the notice is 
received by the Company Secretary; or 
 
(2) if a later day is stated in the notice – 
the later day. 
  
37. Vacation of office 
 
37.1 In addition to the circumstances in 
which the office of a Director becomes vacant 
under the Act, the office of a Director becomes 
vacant if the Director: 
 
(1) becomes of unsound mind or becomes 
a person whose person or estate is liable to be 
dealt with in any way under any legislation 
relating to mental health; 
 
(2) resigns by notice in writing to the 
Company; 
 
(3) ceases to be a District 
Rotarian/Rotaractor; 
 
(4) is absent for a continuous period of 6 
months (without the consent of the other 
Directors) from meetings of Directors; or 
 
(5) dies. 
 
38. Powers of Directors 
 
38.1 Subject to the Act and Rule 9 of this 
Constitution, the business of the Company is 
managed by or under the direction of a Board 
of Directors, who may exercise all powers of 
the Company except those which are, by the 
Act or this Constitution, required to be 
exercised by the Company in General Meeting. 
 
38.2 Without limiting the generality of Rule 
38.1, the Board of Directors may exercise all the 
powers of the Company: 
 
(1) to borrow money, to charge any 
property or business of the Company or all or 
any of the Company's uncalled capital; and 
 



(2) to issue debentures or give any other 
security for a debt, liability or obligation of the 
Company. 
 
39. Appointment of attorneys 
 
39.1 The Board of Directors may, by power 
of attorney, appoint any person to be the 
attorney of the Company for the purposes, and 
with the powers, authorities and discretions 
vested in or exercisable by the Board for any 
period and subject to any conditions as 
determined by the Directors. 
 
39.2 Any appointment under Rule 39.1 may 
be made on terms for the protection and 
convenience of persons dealing with the 
attorney as the Board of Directors thinks fit and 
may also authorise the attorney to delegate all 
or any of the powers, authorities and 
discretions vested in the attorney. 
 
40. Negotiable instruments 
 
40.1 All negotiable instruments of the 
Company must be executed by the persons and 
in the manner set out in Rule 16.4. 
 
41. Proceedings 
 
41.1 The Board of Directors is to meet 
together not less than once in each 2 calendar 
months for the dispatch of business and 
adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as 
the Board thinks fit. 
 
41.2 At any time, a Director with the 
approval of the District Governor or any three 
Directors without such approval, may request 
the Company Secretary to convene a meeting 
of the Directors and the Company Secretary 
must then convene a meeting of the Directors. 
  
41.3 Reasonable notice must be given to 
every Director of the place, date and time of 
every meeting of the Directors. Where any 
Director is for the time being outside of 
Australia, notice need only be given to that 
Director if contact details have been given. 
 
42. Meetings via technology 



 
42.1 For the purposes of the Act, each 
Director, on becoming a Director, consents to 
the use of the following technology for calling 
or holding meetings of Directors: 
 
(1) video conference; 
 
(2) telephone; 
 
(3) electronic mail; 
 
(4) any other technology that permits each 
Director to communicate with every other 
Director; or 
 
(5) any combination of the technologies 
described in the above paragraphs. 
 
42.2 Where the Directors are not personally 
all in attendance at one place and are holding a 
meeting using technology and each Director 
can communicate with the other Directors: 
 
(1) the participating Directors are, for the 
purpose of every provision of this Constitution 
concerning meetings of the Directors, taken to 
be assembled together at a meeting and to be 
present at that meeting; and 
 
(2) all proceedings of those Directors 
conducted in that manner are as valid and 
effective as if conducted at a meeting at which 
all of them were present. 
 
43. Quorum at meetings 
 
43.1 At a meeting of Directors, the number 
of Directors whose presence is necessary to 
constitute a quorum is at least one half of 
Directors entitled to vote. Unless the Directors 
determine otherwise, the quorum need only be 
present at the time when the meeting proceeds 
to business. 
 
44. Vacancies 
 
44.1 The Directors may act even in the event 
of a vacancy or vacancies in the office of a 
Director or offices of Directors, but if the 
number of Directors is not sufficient to 



constitute a quorum at a meeting of Directors, 
the Directors may act only to appoint a 
sufficient number of Directors to constitute a 
quorum. 
 
45. Proceedings at meetings 
 
45.1 The District Governor must be 
appointed Chair at a meeting of Directors. In 
their absence the provisions of Rules 23.1(1), 
(2) and (3) (with all necessary modifications) 
shall apply. 
 
45.2 Subject to this Constitution, questions 
arising at a meeting of Directors are decided by 
a majority of votes of Directors present and 
voting and for all purposes any such decision is 
taken to be a decision of the Directors. 
 
45.3 If there is an even number of votes, the 
Chair of the meeting will have a casting vote in 
addition to the Chair's deliberative vote. 
 
45.4 For the avoidance of doubt, 
notwithstanding that a Director may hold two 
Board positions or offices that Director is 
entitled to one deliberative vote only at 
meetings of the Board 
  
46. Director's Interest 
 
46.1 Except where permitted by the Act a 
Director who has a material personal interest in 
a matter that is being considered at a meeting 
of Directors: 
 
(1) must not be counted in a quorum; 
 
(2) must not vote on the matter; and 
 
(3) must not be present while the matter is 
being considered at the meeting. 
 
46.2 If a Director who has a material 
personal interest in a matter that is being 
considered at a meeting of the Directors is not 
prohibited by the Act from being present at the 
meeting and voting, the Director may be 
present, be counted in the quorum and may be 
heard but may not vote on the matter. 
 



46.3 A Director who is in any way, whether 
directly or indirectly, interested in a contract or 
proposed contract with the Company must, as 
soon as practicable after the relevant facts have 
come to the Director’s knowledge, declare the 
nature of the interest at a meeting of the 
Directors or by written notice to the Company 
Secretary. 
 
46.4 A Director who holds any office or 
possesses any property by which, whether 
directly or indirectly, duties or interests might 
be created in conflict with his or her duties or 
interests as Director must declare at a meeting 
of the Directors of the Company or by written 
notice to the Company Secretary the fact and 
the nature, character and extent of the conflict. 
 
46.5 For the purposes of rules 46.3 and 46.4, 
a Director’s interest or any conflict must be 
disregarded if it arises from or relates solely to: 
 
(1) a guarantee to be given by the Director 
(or by persons including the Director or by a 
body corporate of which the Director is a 
member or officer) in respect of a loan to the 
Company; or 
 
(2) the position of the Director as a 
director of a related body corporate. 
 
46.6 If a Director has an interest in a 
contract or proposed contract with the 
Company (other than as a member), or a 
conflicting interest or duty in relation to any 
other matter being considered by the Directors, 
and the Director discloses the nature and 
extent of the interest or duty at a meeting of 
the Directors or by written notice to the 
Company Secretary:: 
 
(1) if the disclosure is made before the 
contract is entered into: 
 
(a) the Director may retain benefits under 
the contract even though the Director has an 
interest in the contract; 
 
(b) the Company cannot avoid the contract 
merely because of the existence of the interest; 
and 



 
(c) the Director is not disqualified from the 
office of Director. 
 
46.7 For the purposes of rule 46.6 contract 
includes an arrangement, dealing or other 
transaction. 
 
46.8 Without limiting rules 46.1 to 46.7, a 
Director may to the extent permitted by the 
Act: 
 
(1) hold any other office or place of profit 
under the Company (other than the office of 
auditor) in conjunction with the office of 
Director; 
  
(2) be interested in any operation, 
undertaking or business undertaken or assisted 
by the Company or in which the Company is or 
may be interested. 
 
47. Alternate Directors 
 
47.1 A Director may not appoint an 
alternate Director. 
 
 
48. Committees 
 
48.1 The Board of Directors may, delegate 
any of its powers to a Committee or 
Committees consisting of such number of them 
and/or other District Rotarians/Rotaractors as 
they think fit. A Committee may consist of one 
or more but usually 3 persons. 
 
48.2 A Committee to which any powers have 
been so delegated must exercise the powers 
delegated in accordance with any directions of 
the Board of Directors. A power so exercised is 
taken to be exercised by the Board. 
 
48.3 Rules 39 (except as to the frequency of 
meetings), 40, 43, 44, 46 and 47 (with any 
necessary modifications) apply to any 
Committee as if each reference in those Rules 
to the Directors was a reference to the 
members of the Committee and each reference 
to a meeting of Directors was to a meeting of 
the Committee. 



 
48.4 The number of members whose 
presence at a meeting of the Committee is 
necessary to constitute a quorum is the number 
determined by the Board of Directors and, if 
not so determined, is 2. Unless the Board 
determines otherwise the quorum need only be 
present at the time when the meeting proceeds 
to business. 
 
48.5 The minutes of all the proceedings and 
decisions of every Committee must be made 
entered and signed in the same manner in all 
respects as minutes of proceedings of the 
Directors are required by the Act to be made, 
entered and signed. 
 
49. Written resolutions by Directors 
 
49.1 The Directors of the Company may pass 
a resolution without a directors’ meeting being 
held if a document containing the resolution: 
 
(1) is circulated to all those entitled to 
receive notice of a meeting to consider the 
resolution; 
 
(2) contains a statement that the 
signatories to it are in favour of that resolution; 
 
(3) sets out or identifies the terms of the 
resolution; and 
 
(4) has been signed by all of the Directors 
entitled to vote on that resolution. 
 
49.2 In the event requirements of Rule 50.1 
are met a resolution in those terms shall be 
deemed to have been passed on the day on 
which and at the time at which the document 
was signed by the last of the Directors to so 
sign and the document has effect as a minute 
of the resolution. 
 
49.3 For the purposes of Rule 49.1: 
 
(1) two or more separate documents 
containing statements in identical terms, each 
of which is signed by one or more Directors, are 
together taken to constitute one document 
containing a statement in those terms signed 



by those Directors on the day on which and at 
the time at which the last of those documents 
to be signed was signed by the Director; and 
  
(2) which is received by the Company or an 
agent of the Company and is sent for or on 
behalf of a Director is taken to be signed by 
that Director not later than the day and time of 
receipt of the document by the Company or its 
agent in legible written form. 
 
50. Defects in appointments 
 
50.1 All acts done by any meeting of 
Directors or meeting of a Committee are as 
valid as if each person was duly appointed and 
qualified to be a Director or a member of the 
Committee. 
 
50.2 Rule 50.1 applies even if it is afterwards 
discovered that there was some defect in the 
appointment of a person to be a Director or a 
member of a Committee that a person so 
appointed was disqualified. 
 
52 Executive Committee 
 
52.1 The Board of Directors may appoint an 
executive Committee subject to the following: 
 
52.2 The Executive Committee shall 
comprise the District Governor, District 
Governor elect, the District Finance Director 
and the District Administrator 
 
(1) The powers of the Executive 
Committee are limited to those delegated by 
the Board of Directors and may include: 
 
52.2.1.1 to consider and recommend 
matters of policy to the Board; 
 
52.2.1.2 to deal with and be responsible 
for the day to day running of the Company and 
the affairs of District 9620; 
 
52.2.1.3 to supervise all committees of 
the Board; and 
 
52.2.1.4 to attend to matters of urgency 
which cannot at that time be practically dealt 



with by the Board as a whole provided that 
such powers must be exercised subject to any 
prior Board policies and resolutions; 
 
(2) The Executive Committee must report 
fully to each meeting of the Board of Directors 
on matters which it has dealt with and where 
necessary must seek ratification of decisions by 
the Board. 
 
53 Appointment of agents 
 
53.1 The Board of Directors may from time 
to time by resolution or power of attorney 
under Seal of the Company appoint any person 
to be the agent of the Company: 
 
(1) for the purposes; 
 
(2) with the powers, authorities and 
discretions (not exceeding those exercisable by 
the Board of Directors under this Constitution); 
 
(3) for the period; and 
  
(4) subject to the conditions, determined 
by the Board. 
 
53.2 An appointment by the Board of 
Directors of an agent of the Company may be 
made in favour of: 
 
(1) any Corporation; or 
 
(2) the members, Directors, nominees or 
managers of any Corporation or firm. 
 
53.3 The Board of Directors may appoint 
attorneys or agents by facsimile transmission or 
electronic mail to act for and on behalf of the 
Company. 
 
53.4 An agent appointed under this Rule 53 
may, be authorised by the Board of Directors to 
sub- delegate all or any of the powers, 
authorities or discretions for the time being 
vested in him, her or it. 
 
54 Notices generally 
 



54.1 Any District Club which has not left at 
or sent to the registered office, a place of 
address or an electronic mail address (for 
registration in the register) at or to which all 
notices and documents of the Company may be 
served or sent is not entitled to receive any 
notice. 
 
54.2 A notice may be given by the Company 
to any District Club by: 
 
(1) serving it on the District Club's 
President or Secretary personally; 
 
(2) sending it by post to the District Club or 
leaving it at the District Club's address as shown 
in the register or the address supplied by the 
District Club to the Company for the giving of 
notices; 
 
(3) transmitting it electronically to the 
electronic mail address supplied by the District 
Club to the Company for the giving of notices. 
 
54.3 A District Club may, by written notice to 
the Company Secretary left at or sent to the 
registered office, require that all notices to be 
given by the Company or the Directors be 
served on the District Club's attorney at an 
address specified in the notice. 
 
54.4 Notice to a District Club whose address 
for service of notices is outside Australia must 
be sent by airmail, fax or electronic mail. 
 
54.5 Where a notice is sent by post, service 
of the notice is taken to be effected by properly 
addressing, prepaying and posting a letter 
enclosing the notice and to have been effected: 
 
(1) in the case of a notice of a meeting, on 
the second business day after the date of its 
posting; and 
 
(2) in any other case, at the time at which 
the letter would be delivered in the ordinary 
course of post. 
 
54.6 Where a notice is sent by fax or 
electronic transmission, service of the notice is 
taken to be effected by properly addressing and 



sending or transmitting the notice and to have 
been effected on the day it is sent. 
 
55 Notices for General Meetings 
 
55.1 Notice of every General Meeting must 
be given: 
 
(1) in the manner as required by Rules 17 
and 18; 
  
(2) to every District Club and to each 
Director; and 
 
(3) in the event that the General Meeting 
is the Annual General Meeting, to the auditor 
of the Company (if any). 
 
55.2 No other person is entitled to receive 
notice of General Meetings, but notice may be 
given to other persons at the direction of the 
District Governor. 
 
56 Dispute Resolution 
 
56.1 If a dispute arises between any of the 
Company, the Directors, District Clubs, District 
Rotarians or District Rotaractors as to any 
matter touching on the operation of the 
Company, administration of District 9620, 
administration of a District Club, membership 
of District 9620 or a District Club, the 
Constitutional Documents or any other matter 
relating to Rotary International, then: 
 
(1) the parties must act in good faith to 
attempt to resolve the dispute; 
 
(2) the District Governor shall be entitled 
to intervene to attempt to mediate a 
resolution; 
 
(3) if the District Governor is a direct party 
to the dispute, the immediate Past District 
Governor shall similarly be entitled to 
intervene; 
 
(4) if the Constitutional Documents 
provide a method of dispute resolution, any 
party may require this to apply; 
 



(5) failing resolution, whether or not Rule 
56.1(4) applies, any party may require the 
matter to be referred to formal mediation, with 
the mediator to be nominated by the 
Queensland Chapter of the Resolution Institute 
or its successor, to be conducted in accordance 
with the rules of that body with the cost shared 
equally between the parties to the dispute; and 
 
(6) no party shall commence any form of 
Court proceedings, save for urgent 
interlocutory relief, until they have made a 
bona fide attempt to resolve the dispute and 
have genuinely engaged in mediation under 
Rule 56.1(5). 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 


